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How you can help >
Whilst the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives 

some support from Commonwealth, State 

and Territory governments, we rely heavily on 

fundraising and donations from the community 

to purchase and medically equip our aircraft 

and to support other health initiatives.

> Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
RFDS National Office 
Level 8, 15–17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

> Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435

> Visit flyingdoctor.org.au to make an online donation

  flyingdoctor.org.au

  facebook.com/royalflyingdoctorservice

  @RoyalFlyingDoc

ABN 74 438 059 643

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia

Federation Office 
Level 8, 15–17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T  02 8259 8100 
F  02 9247 3351 
W  www.flyingdoctor.org.au
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It takes a full range of accessible health services 
to address the health care gap in rural and remote 
Australia. So much more than a Flying Doctor, the RFDS 
has expanded its range of clinic services to advance the 
long-term health of people in the bush. 

In 2013/14, we delivered 16,096 health clinics treating over 145,000 
patients – in addition to our aeromedical retrieval service. During 
the same period, demand for Royal Flying Doctor Service (RFDS) 
aeromedical services grew by 5.9%.

While delivering wide-ranging health services, the RFDS continued to 
establish e�ciencies in operations, transparency in reporting and working 
towards sustainable funding for our vital services. It’s all part of our 
mission: to provide excellence in aeromedical and primary health care 
across Australia.

Cover: RFDS water-safety program at Barenya Station Queensland. 
Image courtesy of Mick Wilcomes.
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THE YEAR’S HIGHLIGHTS >

26,410,611 km
flown by our fleet of 63 aircraft

Patient contacts made at RFDS clinics, aeromedical 
transports and telehealth consultations 

282,000

16,096
Clinics  

conducted

We launched the first 
RFDS national digital 

campaign

Buy the 
Sky
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Patients used our 
telehealth services

82,305 2013/14

Increase in patients  
seen by our dental  
programs in 2013/14

42%

An independent report into RFDS 
Traditional Services shows demand is being met 
in a seamless manner, as RFDS resources are 
e�ciently deployed to cope with the demands of

24/7 availability

Patients transported

54,705
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Scene at Mt Ive Station, South Australia.
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The Flying Doctor is an iconic Australian not-for-profit 

organisation that is essential to life in the bush. I was delighted 

to be appointed Chair of the Royal Flying Doctor Service 

National Board in July 2013. 

Increasing awareness of 
health issues in the bush >

I would like to begin by thanking 
Michael Reid, for his role as Acting 
Chairman of the National Board. I 
would also like to farewell and thank 
Mark Grey, RFDS Queensland Section 
Board Director; and Greg Rochford, the 
RFDS National CEO. Their dedicated 
contribution to the work of the Flying 
Doctor has been outstanding. 

This year we have welcomed Bill Mellor 
to the National Board as our new 
Director from RFDS Queensland 
Section and in August 2014 our new 
RFDS National CEO, Martin Laverty.

Martin joins us after six years as CEO 
of Catholic Health Australia, where he 
built a strong background in health, and 
social service delivery and advocacy. 
He was born and raised in rural 
Australia, has trained as a lawyer, and 
studied for a PhD in not-for-profit health 
governance – and we’re excited to have 
him on board. 

In March the National Board gathered 
in Canberra and hosted a breakfast 
event for members of parliament 
whose constituents rely on Flying 
Doctor services. The room was full of 
guests, which gave the Board an ideal 
opportunity to discuss the breadth of 
health services that the Flying Doctor 
now provides to over 145,300 patients 
every year.

We are also particularly proud of the 
RFDS’s first national digital awareness 
and fundraising campaign, Buy the Sky. 
Launched in October 2013, the 
campaign is already building our brand 
and increasing awareness of health 
issues in the bush – especially among 
younger Australian city dwellers. It’s an 
exciting opportunity to engage a new 
generation of supporters, and ensure 
our services are supported well into 
the future. 

Finally, I would like to thank the National 
Board, Section and Operation Boards 
and RFDS staff around the country 
for their outstanding performance in 
2013/14. We couldn’t do it without you.

Amanda Vanstone 
Chair

CHAIR’S REPORT

Amanda Vanstone 
Chair
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The Australian Institute of Health and Welfare reports that type 

2 diabetes prevalence is 3.7 times higher in remote Australia 

than in cities. The National Heart Foundation reports that 

cardiovascular disease prevalence in rural areas is 25% higher 

than it is in cities.  Pick an area of chronic disease, and you will 

likely find that people living in country Australia do not enjoy the 

same health outcomes as people living in cities.

Maintaining long-term health 
in rural and remote Australia >

It is with this in mind that I joined the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service Federation 
Office as CEO, in August 2014, with a 
strong commitment to delivering better 
health outcomes for country Australia. 
Better health outcomes will in part be 
achieved by ensuring health services 
can be easily accessed, even by those 
who live in Australia’s furthest corner. 
Importantly, better health outcomes 
are also dependent on preventing ill 
health and injury from occurring by 
applying what we know about social 
determinants and chronic disease 
prevention. These complementary 
factors will inform the work of the RFDS 
Federation Company in the months and 
years ahead.

I’m pleased to start my tenure by 
celebrating RFDS’s achievements over 
the last year. These results have set 
a strong foundation in our mission to 
meet the health challenges that face 
outback Australia.   

Sustainable funding 

Our focus on sustainable funding 
matches the growing demand for our 
services. Since 2006/07, RFDS has 
seen a 30% increase in demand for its 
Commonwealth ‘traditional services’. 
At the beginning of 2014, the provision 
of an additional $6 million in funding 
allocated to the RFDS in the 2014 
Federal Budget ensured service levels 
were maintained. The RFDS is grateful 
to the Commonwealth for its continuing 
investment and support in enabling the 
RFDS to deliver health care services to 
parts of country Australia.

One of the ways in which we are 
helping to facilitate transparency in 
activity-reporting to our Commonwealth 
funder was to undertake an 
independent review of the RFDS 
Cost Model for use in future funding 
arrangements. The Review found the 
architecture of the system was solid 
and a proposed series of modifications 
to enhance cost transparency 
were adopted.  

More than a Flying Doctor

We know it’s not enough to fly patients 
to hospital when they reach a critical 
health event. In order to truly make a 
difference to the long-term health of 
people in the bush, we want to prevent 
these issues from occurring in the first 
place. That’s why the Flying Doctor 
now provides a comprehensive range 
of preventative health care services, 
including mental health, dental health 
and chronic disease prevention 
and management. 

Our big-picture view also includes 
comprehensive programs, such as 
water safety for children in remote 
communities. It recognises that many 
factors contribute to health – be it 
social, economic or geographical. 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER’S REPORT

Martin Laverty 
Chief Executive Officer
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Independent review

In order to develop efficiently, we put 
our traditional services through an 
operational review, which was carried 
out by ORH Limited in December 
2013. The review found that our 
Sections met PE and IHT demand in a 
seamless manner, and concluded that 
our resources were being efficiently 
deployed to cope with the demands for 
24/7 availability.  

I look forward to receiving the final 
report on the non-traditional primary 
health services review, which was 
undertaken in August 2014. 

Supportive community

I’m aware that our ability to deliver 
the highest -quality care is only made 
possible through the support of 
others. It has been a privilege to see 
the dedicated support we receive – 
from everyday Australians, corporate 
organisations, and our service delivery 
partners – in action. 

I am very much looking forward to my 
first year on the flight deck as RFDS 
Federation CEO, and to working with 
our many partners in improving health 
outcomes for country Australians.

Martin Laverty 
Chief Executive Officer

FACTS AT A GLANCE

Service area covered…

7,150,000km2

For the year ended 
30 June 2014

Daily 
Average Year

Patient Contacts 773 282,000 (1)

Patient Transports 149 54,705  (2)

Health Care Clinics 44 16,096

Distance Flown (kms) 72,358 26,410,611

Number of Landings 206 75,314

Telehealth 398 82,305

Number of Aircraft 63  (3)

Royal Flying Doctor Service Bases 22  (4)

Staff Numbers (Headcount) 1,144

Staff FTE (Full-time Equivalent) 978

(1) Includes patients at clinics, patients transported, and telehealth

(2) Includes primary evacuations, inter-hospital transfers, patients  
 transported from a clinic, and repatriations

(3) Does not include aircraft which will be decommissioned in 2013/14

(4) A Royal Flying Doctor Service Base is a health facility that houses  
 an aircraft and provides health services

Australian 
Government 27%

State and Territory 
governments 48% 

Fundraising 15%

Other (e.g. private 
contracts) 10%
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22 Bases >
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Lightning Ridge
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Wagga Wagga

Deniliquin
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Leongatha

Strahan
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St HelensDevonport

Moomba
William
Creek

Marree

BlinmanCook

Bamaga

Weipa Lockhart River

Cooktown

Aurukun

Pormpuraaw

GeorgetownNormanton
Doomadgee

Century
Mine

Barkly
Wayside
Inn

Boulia

Urandangie

Hughenden

Winton
Clermont

Emerald

Augathella
Kingaroy

Thangool

St GeorgeCunnamullaThargominda

Blackall

JundahBirdsvilleAndado
Finke

Mackay

Moranbah

Tennant Creek

Epenarra Station

Walhallow
Eva Downs

Wyndham

Darwin

Bedford Downs

Port Pirie

Kingscote

Olympic Dam

Yalata

Perth

Kalgoorlie

Meekatharra

Port Hedland

Derby

Alice Springs

Mount Isa

Broken Hill
Dubbo

Charleville Roma

Longreach

Townsville

Brisbane

Sydney

Bundaberg

Rockhampton

Adelaide

Port Augusta

Melbourne

Launceston

Cairns

The above map shows just a selection of paths flown 
by the Royal Flying Doctor Service.

In 2013/14 we flew over 7.1 million km2 
covering 90% of Australia.

OUR REACH
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Beechcraft
King Air

B200
B200SE
B200C
B350C

Pilatus
PC-12

Cessna
C208

Hawker
800XP

63 Aircraft >
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The RFDS continues to provide critical health services – 

including emergency evacuations, regular Primary Healthcare 

Clinics and, remote consultations – to some of the most 

disadvantaged communities in Australia. 

Health services >

Mahanewo Station co-owner Paul Manning arrives in 
Adelaide in the care of RFDS Medical Practitioner Dr Alistair Miller.
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One third of Australia’s total 

population live outside major 

cities. Without the health 

services provided by the 

Flying Doctor many of these 

people would have little or no 

reasonably accessible health 

care available to them.

The challenges

The challenges are easy to see. People 
in the most remote areas of Australia 
currently have a life expectancy up to 
seven years less than those in major 
cities, and face a higher rate of death. 
The main contributors to this are higher 
rates of coronary heart disease, other 
circulatory diseases, motor vehicle 
accidents, and chronic obstructive 
pulmonary disease (e.g. emphysema).  

There are also stark differences in 
access to and usage of services in rural 
areas. Hospitalisation rates are up to 
55 per cent higher than those in major 
cities, but GP consultations, common 
medical procedures and preventative 
care services are significantly lower. This 
indicates common difficulties accessing 
these services. 

The importance of outreach

The delivery of services through fly-in 
fly-out, mobile and outreach models – 
such as those delivered by the RFDS 
– continue to be a crucial and effective 
way to provide comprehensive health 
care to people outside metropolitan 
areas. These people are often beyond 
the reach of general health and 
medical services.  

Indeed, in many of the areas where 
the RFDS provides health services, 
we provide the only health services. 
This means we need to meet all of the 
communities’ health needs – providing 
an emergency aeromedical response, 
regular access to GPs and other 
primary health care professionals, after-
hours telehealth services, and access to 
pharmaceutical items. 

People in the most 
remote areas of Australia 
currently have a life 
expectancy up to seven 
years less than those in 
major cities, and face a 
higher rate of death.
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The RFDS provides ‘traditional 

services’ from 12 of our bases. 

These are funded by the 

Commonwealth and include:

Primary evacuations 

The RFDS provides emergency 
evacuations throughout rural and 
remote Australia for people who are 
seriously ill or injured and require urgent 
medical attention. We provide first-class 
medical treatment on the ground, and 
use a dedicated aircraft when we need 

to transport patients to an appropriate 
hospital for any further treatment.

In 2013/14, the RFDS undertook 
4,986 primary evacuations. This 
essential emergency service provides 
assurance to people living, working and 
travelling in rural and remote Australia, 
where there are often few other health 
services available.

Traditional services >

It was a busy afternoon when the 
RFDS received a satellite phone call 
from a distressed overseas visitor, 
approximately 40 km north east of the 
Punmu community. Punmu is a remote 
Aboriginal community in the Great 
Sandy Desert, over 500 km inland 
from Port Hedland. There is no other 
town nearby. 

The call was received at the RFDS 
Statewide Coordination Centre for WA, 
Perth, and immediately put through to 
a Clinical Coordinator – a senior flying 
doctor located in the Centre. 

Beyond the reach of an 
ambulance

A travelling couple had rolled their 
vehicle and the man – still trapped 
inside – was suffering with a chest injury 
that was making it difficult to breathe. 
His companion did not know any first 
aid or appreciate the remoteness of the 
region in which they were travelling. So 
she called for an ambulance.

The doctor explained that there were 
no ambulances in such a remote part 
of Australia, but told her an emergency 
aircraft would be arranged. The RFDS 
would also try to get help to them 
by road from the nearby community 
of Punmu.

Help from the air

The RFDS quickly diverted an aircraft to 
the scene, which had been flying north 
from Port Hedland to the Kimberley 
to take a doctor and nurse to a 
non-urgent task. 

Within an hour of the call coming in, the 
medical crew had landed and been driven 
to the patients’ location by the husband 
of the local remote-area nurse. The male 
patient’s chest injury was serious; it 
required a tube to be inserted to assist 
his breathing. The work was done on the 
roadside, in poor light, and in vehicles not 
specifically equipped for the work.  

Flown to hospital

The RFDS crew then rushed both 
patients by air to the nearest hospital – 
over 500 km away. Using an on-board 
portable diagnostic ultrasound, the 
medical team diagnosed other injuries, 
including a lacerated spleen with internal 
bleeding. This was treated immediately 
on arrival at the hospital. 

In such a case as this, a call to the 
RFDS – resulting in a prompt primary 
evacuation – delivered life-saving 
treatment and transport for people 
travelling within Australia. The aid was 
not available by any other means in such 
a remote setting.

THE RFDS IN ACTION

A primary evacuation from Outback WA

HEALTH SERVICES

RFDS Pilatus PC-12 aircraft can land and take off on 
remote dirt strip runways.
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Primary Health Clinics 

Rural and remote Australia is 
characterised by small, widely 
dispersed populations – and a lack of 
easy access to health care services. 
The RFDS works to overcome this, 

providing regular fly-in fly-out GP, 
Nursing and Allied Health Clinics to rural 
and remote communities. 

In many of these locations, the RFDS 
is the only provider of health care 
services – and takes the place of ‘local’ 
providers. As a result, it delivers health 

care services to the people and families 
there throughout their whole lives. In 
2013/14, the RFDS conducted 16,069 
Primary Health Clinics and saw 145,304 
patients.

The RFDS-operated Marree Health 
Service provides an outpatient nursing 
service, home-visiting service, referral 
service, short-stay patient facility, and a 
24-hour medical-consultation service to 
pastoralists and tourists in the region.   

Sister June, the local Remote Area 
Nurse, has cared for residents of 
Marree and surrounding pastoral 
stations since 1982. In many cases, 
she cares for the children, parents and 
grandparents of the same family.

Getting more care out there

The Marree clinic facility also provides 
a base from which RFDS doctors and 
a community health nurse provide 
visiting General Practice and Primary 
Health Care services during a fortnightly 
‘fly-in’ GP clinic. From there, they 
run a platform for preventative health 
programs such as the Healthy Living 
Program.

Marree is just one of the many isolated 
communities where RFDS Central 
Operations delivers expansive primary 
and preventative health services – in 
addition to traditional aeromedical 
emergency work.

Working together, far and wide

Operating from the Port Augusta base, 
the RFDS ‘fly-in’ clinic team visits the 
vast upper reaches of SA on a weekly, 
fortnightly or monthly schedule. Their 
trips span from Cook in the far west, 
the Birdsville Track and beyond the 
Flinders Ranges in the east, to cattle 
stations on the fringe of the NT border.

The team is made up of a doctor, 
community health nurse, and a GP 
registrar – and they all work together 
to deliver continuity of care for their 
patients. They bring safety, security and 
convenience for families on farming 
properties, miners working in isolated 
camps, and others living and travelling 
in rural communities. Without them, 
patients might be forced to drive 
hundreds of kilometres to see a doctor.

Kelly Braden has lived in Marree all 
her life and, to her, the clinic is an 
irreplaceable part of local life. “The 
Marree clinic has been a part of my life 
from when I was a baby,” she told us. “I 
can’t imagine my family living out here 
without Sister June and the RFDS.”

THE RFDS IN ACTION

Primary Health Clinics in remote South Australia

Left: Sister June Andrew OAM, 
is the Registered Nurse in Marree.
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Remote consultations 

Remote consultations – sometimes 
referred to as ‘telehealth consultations’ 
– form the core of RFDS services. 
These are the calls that come into an 
RFDS base from individuals or health 
workers, in rural and remote areas, who 
require medical assistance or advice 
from an RFDS doctor. 

Front line of help

The remote consultation can be a 
precursor to other RFDS activities. 
For example, the aeromedical primary 
evacuations (for which the RFDS is 
most well known) are only conducted 
when a patient requires urgent, acute 
or critical care – or when a remote 
consultation isn’t possible.

The large majority of remote 
consultations are conducted over 
the phone, using satellite and mobile 
phones. We also regularly use email, 
fax, or video calls to assist diagnosis. 

The doctors behind the service

Remote consultations have always been 
a core part of an RFDS doctor’s job, 
which means they are highly skilled and 
experienced in the process. As such, 
our doctors have developed substantial 
expertise in collecting and deciphering 
the information they need to resolve 
complex and challenging health and 
medical issues. They do so without 
direct patient contact, and in unique 
circumstances and locations where 
there are no alternative or available 
medical services.

Our remote-consultations model 
provides comprehensive continuity 
of care in the form of a 24-hour, 
7 -days-a-week emergency service. The 
same doctor takes the call, provides the 
thorough consultation and diagnosis, 
and decides on necessary action. 
Often, it is also the same doctor who 
goes out on the plane if a primary 
evacuation is necessary.

These same RFDS doctors also 
conduct regular Primary Health Clinics 
in the same geographical areas. As a 
result they are able to build familiarity 
with patients and understand their 
conditions and location, such as the 
availability of other health services – 
like a remote nurse. Through this local 
knowledge, our doctors ensure that the 
best possible course of action is easily 
determined.

Any care, any time

The remote -consultation service also 
acts as our after-hours system where 
we provide regular GP and primary 
health services. Almost all our calls 
come from rural and remote areas, 
and many from where we are the only 
providers of medical services. 

With one of the most comprehensive 
telehealth programs in the world, the 
RFDS remote-consultations service has 
served Australia’s regional, rural and 
remote communities for over 80 years, 
and continues to provide significant 
comfort to those living, working and 
travelling in rural and remote Australia.

HEALTH SERVICES

Medical chests

The RFDS provides medical chests, 
which are held by approved custodians 
in a range of locations throughout rural 
and remote Australia – such as stations, 
roadhouses and hotels. 

Medical chests contain a range of 
pharmaceutical and non-pharmaceutical 
items, and enable emergency and 
non-emergency treatment to be given 
to people living and working in rural and 
remote areas. They also ensure RFDS 
doctors can administer temporary 
relief before a retrieval, on-site aid, or 
treatment of non-urgent ailments.

The system is simple. If someone 
requires assistance and treatment, 
they call the RFDS and speak to a 
doctor who will diagnose their condition 
(through a remote consultation). Where 
appropriate, the doctor may prescribe 
items from the medical chest and give 
the patient instructions. 

These medical chests provide 
enormous comfort to those living 
in the outback, where it is often 
difficult to access necessary 
pharmaceutical items.

Traditional services > continued

14   ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE   |   FEDERATION OFFICE



Members of the Central Operations clinic team: Nathan Tasker, 
Rinnah Ward, Dr Betsy Williams and Cheryl Boles.

Jenny Treloar is the caretaker of an RFDS Medical Chest at her 
property Wiawera in New South Wales.
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HEALTH SERVICES

The RWGPS program serves rural 
Victoria and enables patients to 
access a GP of the gender they prefer. 
Without this choice, many patients go 
without necessary medical checks, and 
compromise their health as a result.   

In one location, for example, we met 
a female patient in her 40s who had 
severe mental health problems and 
poor social circumstances. She had 
urinary symptoms and, due to these 
symptoms, wanted to speak only with a 
female GP.  

After an examination by a female 
RWGPS doctor, it was discovered 
that the patient had a lesion that 
can be associated as a precursor to 
cervical cancer. With the assistance 
and cooperation of the practice nurse 
and reception staff, the doctor referred 
the patient to a gynaecologist, and 
persuaded her to attend the immediate 
follow-up. 

This is just one case where the 
availability of a female GP has likely 
prevented a patient from becoming 
gravely ill. In such cases, the value of 
the RWGPS cannot be understated. 

THE RFDS IN ACTION

Rural Women’s GP Service in rural Victoria

Rural Women’s GP Service

Despite the demand, many parts of rural 
and remote Australia have very limited 
access to female GPs. Through RWGPS, 
the RFDS provides a regular fly-in fly-out 
female GP service to rural and remote 
areas in need – a service supported by 
the male GPs in the areas. We know our 
female GPs feel very privileged to be part 
of the RWGPS program, and we in turn 
have been lucky to have many of them as 
part of our service for many years.

The RFDS has delivered this incredibly 
successful program since 1999. Demand 
has been consistently high, women 
have felt more comfortable seeking 
advice from female GPs, and it has 
been particularly beneficial in remote 
Indigenous communities. Here it is 
culturally acceptable for female GPs 
to see all members of the community: 
males, females and children.

From 1 July 2015, RWGPS will become 
part of the Rural Health Outreach Fund, 
which is managed by local fund-holders in 
each jurisdiction. We hope this important 
and valuable program will continue with 
RFDS involvement wherever possible, 
and we will work with the Commonwealth 
Department of Health in the coming 
months to ensure the transition process is 
as smooth as possible.

Other Commonwealth programs >

Beyond our ‘traditional services’, the RFDS also manages and delivers other health programs 

funded by the Commonwealth. These include:

In such cases, 
the value of the 
RWGPS service 
cannot be 
understated. 

Left: The Rural Women’s GP Service team 
have the opportunity to meet annually.
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Mental Health Services 
in Rural & Remote Areas 
(MHSRRA) program

We recognise the particular impacts 
that life in rural and remote Australia can 
have, and are committed to improving 
and ensuring the mental health of these 
communities. 

To do so, the RFDS delivers mental 
health services – such as those 
provided through the Commonwealth-
funded MHSRRA program in 
Queensland, New South Wales 
and central Australia. Like RWGPS, 
this program has been extremely 
successful; demand often exceeds 
what our committed mental health 
workers can provide. 

The National Mental Health 
Commission is currently reviewing all 
Commonwealth-funded mental health 
programs, and aims to complete this 
in November 2014. At that time, we 
will work closely with the Commission 
and the Commonwealth Department 
of Health to ensure that any changes 
to MHSRRA, or other mental health 
programs, are not detrimental to people 
in rural and remote areas, and that 
the needs of these communities are 
well understood.

The RFDS South Eastern Section 
mental health team consists of a 
psychologist, an alcohol and other 
drugs counsellor, a mental health 
nurse and a community psychologist. 
Services are delivered in person 
wherever possible, and include one-
on-one counselling and therapeutic 
support; screenings for stress, 
depression and anxiety; workshops on 
managing stress, and education and 
support for reducing drug and alcohol 
dependency. 

While MHSRRA staff agree that people 
living in rural and remote areas are 
naturally quite resilient, they know that 
pressures can rise in hard times such 
as drought. During these periods, many 
people are required to work on their 
properties seven days a week, deal 
with financial pressures, and cope with 
the ups and downs of life – often in 

very isolated areas. It can be difficult 
to achieve a good work/life balance, 
and those with children often have to 
arrange home schooling or send their 
children away for schooling. Sometimes 
it can all add up. 

Critical changes

Over the past four years, the MHSRRA 
team has noticed an increasing 
acceptance, particularly among men, of 
the need to seek help for mental health 
issues in the areas where this program 
has been running. But there is still work 
to do. There is persisting widespread 
alcohol and substance misuse, a strong 
stigma associated with seeking help, 
and a sense of failure of not being able 
to cope. 

As such, programs like MHSRRA – that 
deliver much-needed mental health and 
wellbeing services to rural and remote 

Australia – continue to be critical. 

“When there are serious issues requiring 
treatment, the problems of isolation 
can compound the situation. It’s very 
hard to get someone who is already not 
coping with life to actually catch public 
transport across long distances to 
where clinics are located. You can’t just 
put them in a taxi.”

THE RFDS IN ACTION

Reflections from MHSRRA sta¡ in NSW

Above: RFDS Dr John Wenham speaks 
with a local man outside the RFDS clinic 
in Tibooburra.
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HEALTH SERVICES

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
(Queensland Section) operates four 
Wellbeing Centres, located in the 
communities of Hope Vale, Mossman 
Gorge, Aurukun and Coen. Established 
in 2009, these Centres provide 
innovative and culturally appropriate 
services which assist individuals and 
their families to maintain or return to 
positive social and emotional wellbeing.

The goal of the Wellbeing Centres 
is to strengthen community, culture 
and connectedness by providing an 
integrated community-based social 
health and wellbeing service.

The services provided by Wellbeing 
Centres focus on addressing issues 
such as drug and alcohol misuse, 
gambling, family violence, and mental 
health and wellbeing.

Each Wellbeing Centre ensures that 
there is a high level of local decision 
making through a range of community 
engagement strategies, including 
Community Advisory Group and Local 
Advisory Networks, and through the 
employment of local Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander staff.

The RFDS is the interim auspice for the 
Wellbeing Centres, pending transition 

to a future community-controlled 
arrangement. The RFDS supports 
the United Nations Declaration on 
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and 
recognises the research that community 
control is the greatest indicator of 
positive change within a community.

THE RFDS IN ACTION

Wellbeing Centres

Individual Sections also run a large range of services, funded through state governments or in 

partnership with private funders.

Other aeromedical services

These include:

> Inter-hospital transfers. Moving 
patients from one hospital to another 
– within and between states – to 
enable specialist treatment or life-
saving surgery

> Clinic charter services, which reliably 
and safely deliver non-RFDS health 
professionals to remote settings

> Evacuations by charter aircraft (or 
float planes) from tour vessels along 
the Kimberley coast

> Staffing of the Perth Rescue 
Helicopter and Rio Tinto 
LifeFlight Jet.

Other primary health care 
services 

Outreach programs facilitate the 
provision of health clinics to remote 
communities by physiotherapists, 
occupational therapists, diabetic 
educators, mental health workers and 
speech pathologists.

Health promotion and 
education activities

These include the Healthy Living 
Program, which is run by Central 
Operations. They help individuals and 
communities in remote areas adopt 
exercise and diet regimens.

Clinical training and education

These include:

> A Rural Emergency Skills Program 
for rural and remote doctors, nurses 
and other health professionals in 
central Australia

> The Specialised Training in 
Aeromedical Retrieval (STAR) course 
aimed at improving the delivery of 
clinical care in aeromedical retrieval

> Accredited eLearning programs in 
Aeromedical Retrieval and Remote 
Medicine 

> First aid training for people living in 
rural and remote communities

> First aid and medical chest training 
to mining and drilling companies

> The Medical Care for Shipmasters 
Course – training Masters of large 
vessels in emergency care.

Other RFDS services >
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A young local lad learns about water safety in Aurukun, Queensland as part of the 
RFDS water safety program. Image courtesy of Mick Wilcomes.
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Oral health services

In addition, all RFDS Sections have now 
established oral health services. Most 
of these operate on a fly-in fly-out or 
mobile basis, and are funded by state 
governments, private investments, or 
the use of donor funds. These services 
include:

> The RFDS Remote Oral Health 
Care Program – a partnership with 
Adelaide Airport and the University 
of Adelaide’s School of Dentistry. 
This provides oral health services to 
five remote areas of South Australia, 
including the Gawler Ranges and 
along the Birdsville Track.

> The means and coordination for 
students from the University of 
Melbourne and volunteer dentists to 
provide outreach services in Victoria

> The QCoal Community Dental 
Service, which travels around rural 
and remote Queensland

> A partnership with the WA 
government to provide much-needed 
services to five remote areas of 
Western Australia

> The Outback Oral Treatment and 
Health (TOOTH) Program, launched 
in 2012 in partnership with the 
Investec and Gonski foundations. 
This provided 266 fly-in fly-out clinics 
for urgent and preventative dental 
care to 1,795 residents of rural NSW 
in 2013/14 alone.

Why we’re prioritising dental care

Demand for each of these services 
consistently exceeds supply, and poorer 
oral health outcomes persist in rural and 
remote Australia. Adults (over 15 years 
old) outside metropolitan areas are 
shown to have 25 per cent more missing 
teeth, higher rates of periodontal disease 
and tooth decay, and are 1.7 times 
more likely to have no natural teeth. 
Meanwhile, children living in rural and 
remote areas experience between 25 
to 30 per cent more dental caries than 
metropolitan children.

Recognising the critical role that oral health 
plays in general health and wellbeing, the 
RFDS has identified increasing oral health 
services as a priority. We will continue to 
monitor and advocate for Commonwealth 
Government action in this area.

Other RFDS services > continued

HEALTH SERVICES

The Outback Oral Treatment and Health (TOOTH)Program 
treated 1,795 residents in remote NSW in 2013/14.
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THE RFDS IN ACTION

Oral health services in Queensland

In order to increase its footprint in oral health, RFDS Queensland Section continues to expand its 

programs. It now runs three key oral health programs:

The QCoal Community Dental Service

Developed in partnership with QCoal, this important program 
provides oral health services to a large area across central 
Queensland. Its services address the specific needs of 
identified communities – then return to those communities to 
continuously improve their oral health.  

In 2013/14, the service saw 1,826 patients across 10 rural 
and remote communities – none of which had good access 
to oral health services. It provided 10,500 itemised services 
at an approximate value of $1.11 million free of charge – 
largely through the generous sponsorship support of mining 
company QCoal.  

Flouride varnish program

Our oral health program has also expanded into preventative 
health: the development and implementation of a fluoride 
varnish program is well underway. It follows a similar program, 
introduced in the Northern Territory, which saw a significant 
reduction of children’s cavities in remote communities in 
Arnhem Land. 

In Queensland, the RFDS team took a partnership approach 
– training its own staff as well as the staff of the Aboriginal 
Medical Service, the Apunipima Cape Hospital and Health 
Service, and the Torres Cape Hospital and Health Service. 
To date, fluoride varnishing has been introduced to clinics at 
Mornington Island, Doomadgee, Pormpuraaw, Kowanyama 
and Lockhart River – while rollouts continue across the State.

Initiative in Mornington Island and Doomadgee

This year the Anglican Diocese of Brisbane’s annual Loaves 
and Fishes Luncheon named RFDS as their beneficial 
charity, in support of an oral health initiative in the Lower Gulf 
communities of Mornington Island and Doomadgee. The two 
communities had both demonstrated significant oral health 
issues during child health checks, and we were looking for a 
means to help. 

The new program will look to provide comprehensive dental 
assessment and treatment to over 80% of the communities’ 
children, aged 4–16 years old. Its development is based 
on key partnerships with North West Hospital and Health 
Service, Gidgee Healing and the Central and North West 
Medicare Local.

A patient attends the QCoal Community Dental Service.

A focus on children’s dental health is essential to combating 
long-term health issues.

The QCoal dental service saw 1,826 patients in 2013/14.
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In 2013/14 the Royal Flying 

Doctor Service National O¤ce 

(RFDS NO) has been focused 

on establishing transparent 

and robust systems to secure 

appropriate Commonwealth 

Government funding and 

monitoring the achievement of 

e¤ciency targets by Sections.

Operational transparency 
and future funding

Due to a 30% increase in service 
demand for Commonwealth Traditional 
Services since 2006/07 it is imperative 
that future funding arrangements are 
able to adapt to changes in activity 
levels to provide adequate support 
for services.

The provision of an additional $6 million 
in funding allocated to the RFDS in 
the 2014 Federal Budget ensured 
service levels to people in rural and 
remote communities were able to be 
maintained. This extra funding has 
ensured life-saving RFDS primary health 
and emergency services continue to 
assist people in the bush.

In order to be in the very best position 
to negotiate sufficient Commonwealth 
funding for our next four-year funding 
agreement commencing in 2015, 
RFDS has initiated several projects 
to ensure the cost of service delivery 
is calculated accurately in a fair and 
transparent manner. 

Firstly, the development of a national 
data dictionary is required to ensure 
there is a consistent application of 
activity data from the full range of 
services provided by each Section. 
RFDS is now close to finalising this 
document which will enhance costing 
and reporting systems.

RFDS and the Commonwealth 
Government agreed to undertake 
an independent review of the RFDS 
Cost Model for use in future funding 
arrangements. The Review found the 
architecture of the system as solid and 
proposed a series of modifications 
to enhance the Cost Model. The 
recommendations were adopted by 
RFDS and implemented in the Finance 
One accounting system in July 2014. 

It became evident the implementation of 
a common chart of accounts across the 
five operating Sections was required to 
promote the integrity of the Cost Model. 
Accurate and consistent financial 
reporting allows for benchmarking of 
costs across the RFDS and supports 
a costing tool to be used for funding 
approaches to governments. It now 
provides a transparent and consistent 
allocation of costs between funders, 
and the final endorsement by the 
Commonwealth Government is 
expected by October 2014. 

The enhancement of reporting 
systems was the final project to 
commence in 2013/14 and will 
not be finalised until early 2015. 
This included the development of a 
minimum data set of clinical indicators 
to assist in the measurement of the 
effectiveness of health care and 
quality-improvement initiatives. 

National Office has worked closely 
with the Commonwealth Government 
throughout the year to implement these 
initiatives to support a new basis for 
funding for the new 2015–19 Funding 
Agreement. 

FINANCE AND CORPORATE SERVICES >
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Information, Communication 
and Technology e�ciencies

The five-year National Information, 
Communication and Technology (ICT) 
Strategic Plan – that includes a National 
ICT vision; a National Applications 
strategy; enhanced National Reporting 
and Business Intelligence capabilities; 
and improved organisation-wide 
collaboration and communication 
capabilities – was approved. And a 
new cross-functional ICT Steering 
Committee was formed to oversee 
implementation of the ICT Strategy. 

Rollout was completed of a common 
video-conferencing solution across the 
RFDS organisation and negotiations 
with Telstra commenced for renewal 
of the National Corporate Services 
Agreement covering provision of 
organisation-wide Fixed Voice, 
Mobile Telephony and Wide Area 
Network services.

Initial steps were taken to support the 
migration of the National accounting 
system to a vendor’s cloud-hosting 
solution, with subsequent savings in 
licensing and hosting costs.

Traditional service e�ciencies

An operational review of RFDS 
Traditional Services was completed 
by ORH Limited in December 2013 to 
assess the need for 24/7 capability to 
provide traditional services across the 
12 traditional bases. The approach 
required detailed data on flight activity 
and patient movements over the 
financial year 2012/13 to be gathered 
from each Section in a uniform manner. 
This data was analysed to inform an 
assessment of current service provision 
and to enable a model to be developed 
to examine options for change in 
each Section.

The review included an assessment 
of the interaction with non-traditional 
state-funded services – primarily 
Inter-Hospital Transfers (IHTs) – and 
also has involved developing national 
standards for response times for 
Primary Evacuations (PEs).

The review found that PE and IHT 
demand is being met in a seamless 
manner by Sections, and RFDS 
resources are efficiently deployed 
to cope with the demands for 24/7 
availability. Several recommendations 
were made to improve the collection of 
data to monitor response times and to 
monitor performance against agreed 
service standards.

A subsequent review of RFDS 
Non-Traditional Services, including 
primary health care services, has been 
undertaken and the final report is 
expected in August 2014.

These review findings and 
recommendations further the RFDS 
commitment to improving operational 
efficiencies and providing excellence in 
aeromedical health care for people in 
rural and remote Australia. 

$6 million in funding allocated to 
the RFDS in the 2014 Federal Budget 
ensured service levels to people in 
rural and remote communities were 
able to be maintained.
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FUNDRAISING >

National Geographic celebrity ‘Outback Wrangler’ 
Matt Wright is the ambassador for the RFDS digital 
campaign, Buy the Sky.
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Introducing: Buy the Sky 
buythesky.com.au 

In October 2013 the RFDS launched 
its first national digital awareness and 
fundraising campaign, Buy the Sky. 

While we know that many generations 
of Australians are aware of the Flying 
Doctor’s life-saving work through school 
or the popular television show, younger 
Australians in the city often lack 
exposure to the issues that affect rural 
and remote Australia.

Buy the Sky was developed so we 
could build the RFDS brand and 
increase awareness of health issues in 
the bush – especially among people 
under 50 who predominantly live in 
metropolitan Australia. We wanted to 
provide a digital fundraising vehicle that 
could engage young new supporters, 
and ensure that RFDS services are 
supported well into the future. 

How it came to life

Created by Havas Worldwide, Buy 
the Sky encourages people to make 
a donation in return for a virtual patch 
of sky on selected Royal Flying Doctor 
Service flight paths. The donor then 
undertakes a communication journey 
– focused on the work of the Flying 
Doctor and health issues facing people 
in rural and remote communities – in the 
form of flight alerts, eNewsletters and 
social media posts. 

National Geographic celebrity 
‘Outback Wrangler’ Matt Wright 
very generously donated his time to 
become the RFDS spokesperson 
for Buy the Sky. With his help, we 
successfully launched the campaign on 
Channel 7’s morning show, Sunrise. 

Results so far

The results have been encouraging. 
To date, 62 per cent of Buy the Sky 
supporters are under 50 years of age 
– and 88 per cent are under 65. Most 
significantly, the campaign is engaging 
new audiences of RFDS supporters 
who are helping us deliver the finest 
care to the furthest corners of Australia. 

To date, 62 per cent of 
Buy the Sky supporters 
are under 50 years of 
age – and 88 per cent 
are under 65.
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Board of Directors >

Top row L-R: Amanda Vanstone, Michael Reid, Loretta Reynolds, William Rogers.    
Bottom row L-R: John Milhinch, Richard Alder, Malcolm White, Mark Gray, William Mellor.

Mrs Amanda Vanstone

NATIONAL CHAIR 

(Appointed July 2013) 

Former Senator for South Australia (1984–
2004); Minister (1996–2007); Ambassador to 
Italy (2007–2010). 

Director, Port Adelaide Football Club; 
Director, DrinkWise; Director, Institute for 
International Trade; Director, Vision 20/20.

Mr Michael Reid

DEPUTY CHAIR 

Acting National Chair (November 2012–July 
2013). 

Consultant, Michael Reid and Associates; 
Former Director General, Queensland Health 
(2008–2011); Former Director General, NSW 
Health (1997–2002).

Ms Loretta Reynolds 
BEc, LLB, F Fin, FAICD

DEPUTY CHAIR OF RFDS 
CENTRAL OPERATIONS 

Current Corporate Partner and Chair, 
Thomson Geer; Non-Executive Director, SA 
Health & Medical Research Institute; Former 
Non-Executive Director, Arafura Resources 
Limited and MTAA Super.

Mr William Murray Rogers AM

CHAIR OF RFDS VICTORIA

Former: Executive Chairman, Kellogg 
(Aust) Pty Ltd; Chairman, Australian Food 
Council; Chief Executive Officer, AWB Ltd; 
Chairman, Single Vision Grains Australia and 
Chairman, Australian Grain Technologies.  
Former Fellow of the AICD, the AIM and 
currently Chairman, McLachlan Consolidated 
Fishermen Ltd.

Mr John Milhinch OAM

SOUTH EASTERN SECTION PRESIDENT 
AND MEMBER OF BOARD EXECUTIVE

Chairman, RFDS Board Appointments 
Committee; Member, RFDS Audit & Risk 
Management Committee; Chairman, RFDS 
National Superannuation Fund; Former 
Director, Europcar Asia Pacific. Trustee of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service Friends in the 
United Kingdom.  Formerly General Manager 
Strategic Investments and Investor Relations, 
Accor Asia Pacific.

Mr Richard Alder 
DIRECTOR OF RFDS 
WESTERN OPERATIONS 

Member of the National Board’s Finance and 
Audit Committee. Retired Financial Advisor. 

Mr Malcolm White
PRESIDENT OF RFDS 
TASMANIAN SECTION

Former Chief Executive Officer TAFE 
Tasmania; Non-Executive Director, TDA 
National Scholarships Foundation; Director, 
Royal Flying Doctor Service. 

Holds a Master of Business Administration 
and an Air Transport Pilot Licence.

Mr Mark Gray 
BEcon Hons, F Fin, FAIM, GAICD

(Resigned November 2013)

Mark Gray was appointed Under Treasurer 
(Chief Executive) of the Queensland 
Department of Treasury and Trade in 
November 2013. Mr Gray resigned from the 
RFDS National Board in November 2013 and 
was succeeded by Mr William Mellor.

Mr William (Bill) Mellor 
DSC, AM, BA(Qld), Grad Dip Strat Studies, 

Dip App Sc, GAICD

CHAIRMAN OF RFDS 
QUEENSLAND SECTION

(Appointed December 2013)

Bill joined the Queensland Board in 2005. 
He is Chair of the Remuneration and 
Appointments Committee and a member of 
the Finance and Audit Committee.  

A graduate of the University of Queensland, 
Bill is currently employed by the Queensland 
State Government.

DIRECTORS’ REPORT

26   ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE   |   FEDERATION OFFICE



Governance >

National Board of Directors

The National Board of Directors is 
committed to responsible corporate 
governance. In accordance with the 
Australian Stock Exchange Corporate 
Governance Council’s Principles of 
Good Corporate Governance and 
Best Practice Recommendations, 
the Board has established a sound 
framework of corporate governance 
practices that it considers appropriate 
for the Royal Flying Doctor Service of 
Australia. The Board recognises that 
it is accountable to members and 
stakeholders for the performance of 
the organisation and, to that end, is 
responsible for implementing a system 
of corporate governance that operates 
in the best interests of members while 
also addressing the interests of other 
key stakeholders. The Board also 
recognises that corporate governance is 
not a static matter and regularly reviews 
the organisation’s policies and practices 
to ensure that they remain current and 
in accordance with best practice.

Board role and responsibilities

The Board guides and monitors the 
performance and management of the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
on behalf of the members, by whom it is 
elected and to whom it is accountable. 
The Board Charter clearly defines the 
matters that are reserved for the Board, 
and those that the Board has delegated 
to management.

The principal responsibilities of the 
Board include:

> contributing to the development 
and implementation of 
organisation strategy;

> monitoring the corporate and 
financial performance of the 
organisation;

> approving the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia Financial 
Statements, including the annual 
audit report;

> appointing Board members and the 
National Chief Executive Officer (CEO);

> delegating clear responsibility and 
authority to the committees of 
the Board, the National CEO and 
management;

> monitoring and reviewing the 
performance of those who hold 
delegated powers;

> monitoring and reviewing processes 
and systems of risk management 
and internal compliance and control;

> overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia corporate 
governance framework;

> overseeing the Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia processes for 
disclosure and communications; and

> reviewing and authorising 
major projects.

Composition of the Board

The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
of Australia seeks to have a Board 
comprising Directors with relevant 
knowledge, experience and expertise 
to deal with the current and emerging 
issues of the business, to review 
and challenge the performance 
of management, and to exercise 
independent judgment. The 
National Board currently comprises 
eight Director positions, with six 
Section representatives and two 
Independent Directors.

Independence of Directors

Directors have an overriding 
responsibility to perform their duties 
in the best interests of the Company. 
Directors are required to disclose, on 
an ongoing basis, any interest that 
could potentially conflict with those 
of the Company. In accordance with 
the Corporations Act 2001, and under 
the Board Charter, any Director with a 
material personal interest in a matter 
being considered by the Board must 
declare the possible conflict of interest. 
They must not be present when the 
matter is being considered and may not 
vote on the matter.

Operation of the Board

The Board and its committees meet 
regularly to review strategies and 
operational performance. The Chairman 
and National CEO communicate 
regularly to discuss issues relating to 
the business and to set Board agendas. 
In addition, Directors receive regular 
updates from management on key 
issues between Board meetings.
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Directors’ Report
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia submit herewith the annual financial report of the company for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2014.  The directors report as follows:

Information about the directors and senior management 

The names and particulars of the directors of the company during or since the end of the financial year are:

Name Particulars

Ms Amanda Vanstone, Chair Director, RFDS of Australia 
Resides in North Adelaide, South Australia
Appointed 4 September 2013

Mr Michael Reid (Acting Chairman from 
November 2012 – 4 September 2013)

Director, RFDS of Australia
Resides in Moss Vale, New South Wales

Mr Mark Gray Director, RFDS Queensland Section
Resides in McDowall, Queensland
Resigned 28 November 2013

Mr Murray Rogers AM Director, RFDS Victorian Section
Resides in Brighton, Victoria

Mr John Milhinch OAM Director, RFDS South Eastern Section
Resides in Pyrmont, New South Wales

Mr Richard Alder Director, RFDS Western Operations
Resides in Crawley, Western Australia 

Ms Loretta Reynolds Director, RFDS Central Operations
Resides in Rosslyn Park, South Australia 

Mr Malcolm White Director, RFDS Tasmanian Section
Resides in East Launceston, Tasmania 

Mr William Mellor Director, RFDS Queensland Section
Resides in Brook�eld, Queensland
Appointed 28 November 2013

The above named directors held office during the whole of the financial year and since the end of the financial year except 
where stated.

Joint Company Secretaries 

Mr David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services

Mr Greg Rochford, National Chief Executive (Resigned 8 August 2014)

Principal activities

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the 
operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia.  No significant changes in the nature 
of this activity occurred during the year.

Review of operations

The company acts as the central coordinating body for member organisations and aims to achieve the coordinated provision of 
health services in Australia by its member organisations.  The day to day operations for the delivery of services are carried out 
by the operating sections.

The operating deficit of the company for the financial year was $1,436,706 (2013: surplus of $1,638,058). No income tax is 
payable as the company is exempt from paying such tax.

The company’s operation for the year included the receipt and distribution amongst its member organisations of 
Commonwealth operational and capital grants, donations, bequests and legacies, and to conduct the affairs of the company for 
the mutual benefit of its member organisations and people in rural and remote areas of Australia.
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Changes in state of affairs

There was no significant change in the state of affairs of the company during the financial year.

Subsequent events

There has not been any matter or circumstance occurring subsequent to the end of the financial year that has significantly 
affected, or may significantly affect, the operations of the company, the results of those operations, or the state of affairs of the 
company in future financial years.

The company has entered into lease negotiations to relocate the registered office and principal place of business from Sydney 
to Canberra effective from 1 January 2015.

Future developments

The company will be entering into contract negotiations during 2014/15 for the renewal of the Multi Project Funding Agreement 
with the Australian Government for the period 1 July 2015 – 30 June 2019.

Disclosure of information regarding likely developments in the operations of the company in future financial years and the 
expected results of those operations is likely to result in unreasonable prejudice to the company. Accordingly, this information 
has not been disclosed in this report.

Indemnification of officers and auditors

The company has not otherwise, during or since the end of the financial year, except to the extent permitted by law, indemnified 
or agreed to indemnify an officer or auditor of the company or of any related body corporate against a liability incurred as such 
an officer or auditor.

Directors’ meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director.  During the financial year, 12 meetings were held.

Directors’ meetings

The following table sets out the number of directors’ meetings held during the financial year and the number of meetings 
attended by each director.  During the financial year, 12 meetings were held.

Board of Directors

Directors Eligible to attend Attend

Ms Amanda Vanstone 8 6

Mr Michael Reid 12 11

Mr Mark Gray 9 9

Mr Murray Rogers AM 12 11

Mr John Milhinch OAM 12 12

Mr Richard Alder 12 11

Ms Loretta Reynolds 12 9

Mr Malcolm White 12 12

Mr William Mellor 3 3

Auditor’s independence declaration

The auditor’s independence declaration is included on page 4 of the annual report.

This directors’ report is signed in accordance with a resolution of directors.

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone 
Chair 
Sydney 31, October 2014

Richard Alder 
Director 
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee 
Sydney, 31 October 2014
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Auditor’s Independence Declaration
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
 
  

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 9322 7001 
www.deloitte.com.au 

 
The Board of Directors 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
Level 8 
15 – 17 Young Street 
Sydney 2000 NSW 

 
 31 October  2014 
 
 
Dear Directors 

Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia 
 
In accordance with Subdivision 60-C of the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, I am 
pleased to provide the following declaration of independence to the directors of The Royal Flying Doctor Service 
of Australia. 
 
As lead audit partner for the audit of the financial statements of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014, I declare that to the best of my knowledge and belief, there have been no 
contraventions of: 
 

(i) the auditor independence requirements as set out in the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits 
Commission Act 2012  in relation to the audit; and 

(ii) any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit.   
 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
Gaile Pearce 
Partner  

Chartered Accountant 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

 

Liability limited by a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation.  

Member of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu Limited 
 
  

 

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu 
ABN 74 490 121 060 
 
Grosvenor Place 
225 George Street 
Sydney  NSW  2000 
PO Box N250 Grosvenor Place 
Sydney NSW 1220 Australia 
 
Tel:  +61 2 9322 7000 
Fax:  +61 9322 7001 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
to the members of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of 

Australia 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial report of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, which comprises 
the statement of financial position as at 30 June 2014, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 
the statement of cash flows and the statement of changes in equity for the year ended on that date, notes comprising a 
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, and the responsible persons’ declaration 
as set out on  pages 33 to 51. In addition, we have audited The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance 
with specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility for the Financial Report and for Compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 
 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view in 
accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 
2012 and for compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991. The directors are also responsible for such internal 
control as the directors determine is necessary to enable compliance with requirements of the Charitable Fundraising 
Act 1991 and the preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair view and is free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s compliance with specific requirements of the Charitable 
Fundraising Act 1991 and the financial report based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance with 
Australian Auditing Standards. Those standards require that we comply with relevant ethical requirements relating to 
audit engagements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the entity has complied with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the financial report is free from material 
misstatement.   
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the company’s compliance with specific 
requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and amounts and disclosures in the financial report. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of non-compliance with 
specific requirements of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and material misstatement of the financial report, whether 
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control, relevant to the company’s 
compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and preparation of the financial report that gives a true and fair 
view, in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the company’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the directors, as well as evaluating 
the overall presentation of the financial report. 
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Independent Auditor’s Report
FOR THE YEAR ENDING 30 JUNE 2014

 

 

 
Inherent Limitations 
 
Because of the inherent limitations of any compliance procedure, it is possible that fraud, error, or non-compliance with 
the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 may occur and not be detected.  An audit is not designed to detect all weaknesses 
in The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 as an audit is 
not performed continuously throughout the period and the tests are performed on a sample basis. 
 
Any projection of the evaluation of compliance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 to future periods is subject to 
the risk that the procedures, may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance 
with them may deteriorate. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion. 
 
Auditor’s Independence Declaration 
 
In conducting our audit, we have complied with the independence requirements of the Australian Charities and Not-for-
profits Commission Act 2012. We confirm that the independence declaration required by the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, which has been given to the directors of The Royal Flying Doctors of Australia, 
would be in the same terms if given to the directors as at the time of this auditor’s report.  
 
Opinion 
 
In our opinion: 
 
(a) the financial report of The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in accordance with the  Australian Charities 

and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 June 2014 and of its performance for 
the year ended on that date; and 

 
(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission 

Regulations 2013;  
 
(b) the financial report agrees to the underlying financial records of  The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, that 

have been maintained, in all material respects, in accordance with the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its 
regulations for the year ended 30 June 2014; and 

 
(c) monies received by The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia, as a result of fundraising appeals conducted 

during the year ended 30 June 2014, have been accounted for and applied, in all material respects, in accordance with 
the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and its regulations. 

 
 
 
 
DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU 
 
 
 
 
Gaile Pearce 
Partner 
Chartered Accountants 
Sydney,  31 October 2014 
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Declaration in Respect of Fundraising Appeals
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Responsible Persons’ Declaration

I, Amanda Vanstone, Chair of the Board of Directors of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia declare that in my opinion:

a) the financial report gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs with respect to fundraising appeals;

b) the provisions of the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991 and the regulations under that Act and the conditions attached to the 
authority have been complied with; and

c) the internal controls exercised by the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia are appropriate and effective in accounting for 
all income received

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone 
Chair of the Board of Directors 
Sydney, 31 October 2014

The directors declare that:

(a) in the directors’ opinion, there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its debts as and when 
they become due and payable; and

(b) in the directors’ opinion, the attached financial statements and notes thereto are in accordance with the Australian Charities 
and Not-for-profit Commission Act 2012, including compliance with accounting standards and giving a true and fair view of the 
financial position and performance of the company; 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors made pursuant to to s.60.15 of the Australian Charities and 
Not-for-profit Commission Regulation 2013.

On behalf of the Directors

Amanda Vanstone 
Chair 
Sydney, 31 October 2014

Richard Alder 
Director 
Chairman Audit and Risk Committee 
Sydney, 31 October 2014

2013/14 ANNUAL REPORT   33



Statement of Profit or Loss 
and Other Comprehensive Income
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note  2014 $  2013 $

Revenue 4 67,001,202 72,437,431

Gain/(Loss) on disposal of available-for-sale investments 91,754 (93,412)

Distributions to sections and programmes (62,827,717) (68,463,117)

National activities expense (1,584,968) (831,113)

Employee bene�ts expense 5 (2,073,083) (1,848,501)

Depreciation and amortisation expense (76,555) (69,684)

(Loss)/gain on forward exchange contracts (945,807) 1,321,304

Other administrative expenses (1,021,532) (814,850)

  

Net (deficit) / surplus for the year 5 (1,436,706) 1,638,058

Other comprehensive income

 

Items that may be reclassi�ed subsequently to pro�t or loss

Gain on available-for-sale �nancial assets 203,907 198,865

Total comprehensive (loss) / income for the year (1,232,799) 1,836,923
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Statement of Financial Position
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Note  2014 $  2013 $

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 11,815,403 24,507,710

Trade and other receivables 7 2,206,551 9,383,206

Prepayments 30,884 40,126

  

Total current assets 14,052,839 33,931,042

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 8 265,221 320,300

Other �nancial assets 9 1,630,073 1,847,873

Total non-current assets 1,895,294 2,168,173

Total assets 15,948,133 36,099,215

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 664,173 8,845,546

Provisions 11 151,434 240,446

Trust fund liability 13 12,635,804 23,191,948

Total current liabilities 13,451,411 32,277,940

  

Total non-current liabilities - -

Total liabilities 13,451,411 32,277,938

Net assets 2,496,722 3,821,275

Equity

Available-for-sale revaluation reserve 15 315,273 203,120

Retained earnings 16 2,181,449 3,618,155

Total equity 2,496,722 3,821,275
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Statement of Changes in Equity
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Available for Sale 
Revaluation Reserve $

Retained 
Earnings $ Total Equity $

Balance at 1 July 2012 (89,157) 1,980,097   1,890,940

Net surplus for the year - - -

Other comprehensive income for the year 198,865 1,638,058 1,836,924

Total comprehensive income for the year 198,865 1,638,058 1,836,924

Transfer to pro�t or loss on impairment of available-for-sale investments - - -

Cumulative loss reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss on sale of available-for-sale 
�nancial assets 93,412 - 93,412

Closing balance at 30 June 2013 203,121 3,618,155 3,821,275

Net surplus for the year - - -

Other comprehensive loss for the year 203,907 (1,436,706) (1,232,799)

Total comprehensive income for the year 203,907 (1,436,706) (1,232,799)

Cumulative gain reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss on sale of available-for-sale 
�nancial assets (91,754) - (91,754)

Closing balance at 30 June 2014 315,273 2,181,449 2,496,722
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Statement of Cash Flows
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Note 2014 $ 2013 $

Cash flows from operating activities

Receipts from sections 1,307,775 1,480,816 

Receipts from Commonwealth Government 65,943,809 72,091,076 

Donations and legacies 3,248,792 4,951,521 

Other receipts 886,400 412,749 

Payments to suppliers and employees (5,142,288) (4,326,383) 

Payments to sections (79,378,753) (78,030,245) 

  

Net cash used in operating activities 18(b) (13,134,266) (3,420,466) 

Cash flows from investing activities

Interest received 867,975 1,400,069 

Payments for plant and equipment (21,476) (205,440) 

Dividends received 109,908 51,023 

  

Net cash provided by investing activities 956,407 1,245,652 

Cash flows from financing activities

(Payment)/receipt for settlement of forward exchange contracts (514,447) 460,826 

Net cash (used in)/ generated by financing activities (514,447) 460,826 

  

Net (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (12,692,307) (1,713,988) 

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 24,507,710 26,221,698 

  

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 18(a) 11,815,403 24,507,710 
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Notes to the financial statements
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

1. General information 
The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia (the company) is a company limited by guarantee, incorporated and operates in 
Australia.

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia’s registered office and its principal place of business is as follows: 

Registered o�ce and principal place of business

Level 8 
15 – 17 Young Street 
SYDNEY  NSW  2000

The principal activity of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia in the course of the financial year was to support the 
operating sections in the provision of health services in rural and remote areas of Australia.  No significant changes in the nature 
of this activity occurred during the year.

2. Significant accounting policies 
Statement of compliance

These financial statements are general purpose financial statements which have been prepared in accordance with the 
Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission Act 2012, Accounting Standards and Interpretations, and comply with 
other requirements of the law.  For the purposes of preparing the financial statements, the company is a not-for-profit entity. 

Accounting Standards include Australian Accounting Standards. A statement of compliance with IFRS cannot be made due to 
the application of not for profit sector specific requirements contained in the A-IFRS.

The financial statements were authorised for issue by the directors on 31 October 2014. 

Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of historical cost, except for certain non-current assets and financial 
instruments that are measured at revalued amounts or fair values, as explained in the accounting policies below. Cost is based 
on the fair values of the consideration given in exchange for assets. All amounts are presented in Australian dollars, unless 
otherwise noted.

Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty

In the application of the company’s accounting policies, management is required to make judgments, estimates and 
assumptions about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results 
may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

Standards and Interpretations a©ecting amounts reported in the current period

There are no new and revised Standards and Interpretation adopted in these financial statements affecting the reporting results 
or financial position.

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no e©ect on financial statements

The following new and revised Standards and Interpretations have also been adopted in these financial statements.  Their 
adoption has not had any significant impact on the amounts reported in these financial statements but may affect the 
accounting for future transactions or arrangements.

• AASB 2012-2 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities’
• AASB 2012-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements 2009-2011 Cycle’

Standards and Interpretations adopted with no e©ect on financial statements (continued)

• AASB 2012-9 ‘Amendments to AASB 1048 arising from Withdrawal of Australian Interpretation 1039’
• AASB CF 2013-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Conceptual Framework’ and AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian   
 Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materilaity and Financial Instruments’ (Part A Conceptual Framework’.

The following significant accounting policies have been adopted in the preparation and presentation of the financial report:

(a) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash comprises cash on hand and demand deposits. Cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash, which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and have a maturity of three 
months or less at the date of acquisition.
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Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

(b) Goods and services tax

Revenues, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except:

i.  where the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the taxation authority, it is recognised as part of the cost of 
acquisition of an asset or as part of an item of expense; or

ii. for receivables and payables which are recognised inclusive of GST.

The net amount of GST recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is included as part of receivables or payables.

Cash flows are included in the statement of cash flows on a gross basis. The GST component of cash flows arising from 
investing and financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified within operating 
cash flows.

(c) Revenue

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

Rendering of services

Revenue from a contract to provide services is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of the contract. 

Donations

Donations represent monies received into the company’s bank account.

Interest revenue

Interest revenue is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate 
applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset 
to that asset’s net carrying amount.

In-kind contributions

Revenue (and expense) from non-monetary in-kind contributions, in relation to time donated to the program without 
compensation from the program have been calculated based on actual costs incurred by the donees.

Dividend income

Dividends are recognised as revenue when the right to receive payment is established.

(d) Government grants

Government grants are assistance by the government in the form of transfers of resources to the company in return for 
past or future compliance with certain conditions relating to the operating activities of the entity. Government grants include 
government assistance where there are no conditions specifically relating to the operating activities of the company other than 
the requirement to operate in certain regions or industry sectors.

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the company will comply with the conditions 
attaching to them and the grants will be received.

Government grants whose primary condition is that the company should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire non-current 
assets are recognised as deferred income in the statement of financial position and recognised as income on a systematic and 
rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

(e) Income tax

The company is exempt from the payment of income tax.

(f) Trust fund liability

The trust fund liability represents a present obligation of amounts owed to Sections and other third parties.

(g) Financial assets

Investments are recognised and derecognised on trade date where the purchase or sale of an investment is under a contract 
whose terms require delivery of the investment within the timeframe established by the market concerned, and are initially 
measured at fair value, net of transaction costs.

Other financial assets are classified into the following specific category: ‘available-for-sale’ financial assets.  The classification 
depends on the nature and purpose of the financial assets and is determined at the time of initial recognition.

Available-for-sale financial assets

Certain shares held by the Company are classified as being available-for-sale and are stated at fair value.  Fair value is 
determined in the manner described in note 19.  Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are recognised directly in 
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve with the exception of impairment 
losses which are recognised directly in profit and loss.  Where the investment is disposed of or is determined to be impaired, 
the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in the available-for-sale revaluation reserve is included in profit or loss.  
Dividends on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in profit or loss where the Company’s right to receive the 
dividend is established.
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(g) Financial assets (continued)

Loans and receivables

Trade receivables, loans, and other receivables that have fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active 
market are classified as ‘loans and receivables’. Loans and receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method less any impairment. Interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate. 

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at each reporting 
date. Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events 
that occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been 
affected. For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment loss recognised is the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the financial asset’s original 
effective interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the exception of 
trade receivables, where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account.  When a trade receivable is 
considered uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.  

Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying 
amount of the allowance account are recognised in profit or loss.

When an available-for-sale financial asset is considered to be impaired, cumulative gains or losses previously recognised in 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss in the period.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously 
recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the investment at the 
date the impairment is reversed does not exceed the what the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not been 
recognised.

In respect of available-for-sale equity securities, impairment losses previously recognised in profit or loss are not reversed 
through profit or loss.  Any increase in fair value subsequent to an impairment loss is recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated under the heading of investments revaluation reserve.  In respect of available-for-sale debt securities, 
impairment losses are subsequently reversed through profit or loss if an increase in the fair value of the investment can be 
objectively related to an event occurring after the recognition of the impairment loss.

(h) Plant and equipment

Depreciation is provided on plant and equipment and is calculated on a straight-line basis so as to write off the net cost or 
other revalued amount of each asset over its expected useful life to its estimated residual value. Leasehold improvements are 
depreciated over the period of the lease or estimated useful life, whichever is the shorter, using the straight-line method. The 
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each annual reporting period, with 
the effect of any changes recognised on a prospective basis.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the 
sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

The following rates are used in the calculation of depreciation:

Office equipment  15% – 20% 
Leasehold improvements 60%

(i) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Company has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past event, it is 
probable that the Company will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at 
reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation. Where a provision is measured using 
the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (where the 
effect of the time value of money is material).

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a third party, a 
receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably.

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014
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(j) Leased assets

Leases are classified as finance leases when the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to 
ownership of the leased asset to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another 
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. 
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

(k) Employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual leave, and long service leave 
when it is probable that settlement will be required and they are capable of being measured reliably.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits expected to be settled within 12 months, are measured at their nominal 
values using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

Liabilities recognised in respect of employee benefits which are not expected to be settled within 12 months are measured 
as the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made by the company in respect of services provided by 
employees up to reporting date.

(l) Impairment of tangible and intangible assets excluding goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Company reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not 
possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the company estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate 
assets are also allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-
generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future 
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the 
time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.  
If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit) is increased to the 
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount 
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or cash-generating unit) in prior years.  
A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

(m) Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis.  The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over the relevant period.  The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments through the expected life of the financial liability, or, where appropriate, a shorter period.

(n) Derivative financial instruments

The company enters into derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure to foreign exchange rate risk including foreign 
exchange forward contracts.  Further details of derivative financial instruments are disclosed in Note 19.

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date the derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period.  The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately.

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014
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(o) Standards and Interpretations issued not yet e©ective

At the date of authorisation of the financial statements, the Standards and Interpretations listed below were in issue but not yet 
effective. The potential impact of new or revised Standards and Interpretations has not yet been determined.

Standard Interpretation

E©ective for annual 
reporting periods 

beginning on or after

Expected to be 
initially applied in the 
financial year ending

AASB 9 ‘Financial Instruments’, and the relevant amending standards 1 January 2018 30 June 2019

AASB 1031 ‘Materiality’ (2013)  1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2012-3 ‘Amendments to Australian    Accounting Standards – Offsetting Financial     
Assets and Financial Liabilities’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2-13-3’ ‘Amendments to AASB 136 – Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-
Financial Assets ’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2013-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of 
Derivatives and Continuation of Hedge Accounting’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2013-5 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Investment Entities’ 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2013-9 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual 
Framework Materiality and Financial Instruments 1 January 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ – Part A: ‘Annual 
Improvements 2010-2012 and 2011-2013 Cycles’ – Part B: ‘De�ned Bene�t Plans: 
Employee Contributions (Amendments to AASB 119)’ – Part C: ‘Materiality’ 1 July 2014 30 June 2015

AASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards’ – Part D: 
‘Consequential Amendments arising from AASB14’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017

ASB 2014-1 ‘Amendments to Australian Standards – Part E: ‘Financial Instruments’ 1 January 2015 30 June 2016

AASB 14 ‘Regulatory Deferral Accounts’  1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2014-3 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Accounting for 
Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations 1 January 2016 30 June 2017

AASB 2014-4 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Clari�cation of 
Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and Amortisation’ 1 January 2016 30 June 2017

IFRS 15 ‘Revene from Contract with Customers 1 January 2017 30 June 2018

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2016 30 June 2019

Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (Amendments to IAS 27) 1 January 2016 30 June 2017

Narrow-scope amendments to IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 
Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures (2011) 1 January 2016 30 June 2017

3. Segment information 

The Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia operates predominantly in one business segment being the provision of support to 
the operational Sections in the provision of health service in Australia.

4. Revenue
An analysis of the company’s revenue for the year is as follows:

Operating revenue 2014 $ 2013 $

Contributions from sections 1,375,000 1,425,000 

Australian Government Operational Grants 56,442,843 60,537,879 

Australian Government Mental Health Grant 740,403 420,329 

Australian Government Rural Women’s GP Grant 3,500,000 3,541,000 

Donations and legacies 3,248,792 4,951,521 

65,307,037 70,875,729 

Other operating revenue

Interest 714,159 1,053,357 

Dividend income 93,606 95,596 

Other items 886,400 412,749 

  

1,694,164 1,561,702 

Total revenue 67,001,202 72,437,430 

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014
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5. (Deficit)/Surplus from operations
Surplus from operations for the year includes the following expenses:

Depreciation of non-current assets 76,555 69,684 

Minimum lease payments 102,275 103,052 

Employee benefits expense:

Post employment bene�ts
- De�ned contribution plans

134,864 131,751 

Other employee bene�ts 1,938,219 1,716,750 

Total employee benefits expense 2,073,083 1,848,501 

The foreign exchange loss of $945,807 contributed towards the deficit from operations for 2014.  This loss was generated in 
part by the valuation of open forward exchange contracts and in part by the retranslation of foreign currency at year end. The 
company holds Capital Funding received from the Commonwealth Government in foreign currency and has entered into forward 
contracts to manage the risk of foreign exchange fluctuation over time.

6. Cash
National O�ce Cash 2014 $ 2013 $

Federal account 1,066,172 1,447,045 

Trust donation account 243,143 106,864 

Professional funds account 90,721 129,115 

Cash in investment portfolio 32,417 67,623 

1,432,454 1,750,647 

Trust Fund Assets

Commonwealth Funds – General Account 4,497,396 7,416,577 

Commonwealth Funds – Term Deposit 5,184,110 7,887,978 

Commonwealth Funds – US Dollar Account 701,444 7,452,482 

Rural women’s GP - 26 

10,382,950 22,757,063 

11,815,403 24,507,710 

7. Trade and other receivables
2014 $ 2013 $

Department of Health & Ageing Grant receivable 105,540 7,719,810 

Dividend income receivable 35,433 51,736 

Interest income receivable 322,966 476,782 

Foreign exchange forward contract 173,302 179,955 

Other receivables 271,425 204,200 

GST receivable 1,297,886 750,724 

2,206,551 9,383,206 

No allowance has been made for irrecoverable receivables for 2013 and 2014. There are no receivables which are past due but 
not impaired. The average credit period is 30 days.
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8. Plant and equipment
Leasehold 

improvements at 
cost $ Plant and equipment at cost $ Total $

Gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 July 2012 24,538 428,514 453,052

Additions - 205,440 205,440

Disposals - - -

Balance at 1 July 2013 24,538 633,954 658,492

Additions - 21,476 21,476

Disposals - (29,425) (29,425)

   

Balance at 30 June 2014 24,538 626,006 453,052

Accumulated depreciation and amortisation

Balance at 1 July 2012 24,538 243,970 268,508

Disposals - - -

Depreciation expense - 69,684 69,684

   

Balance at 1 July 2013 24,538 313,654 338,192

Disposals - (29,425) (29,425)

Depreciation expense - 76,555 76,555

   

Balance at 30 June 2014 24,538 360,875 385,323

Net book value

As at 30 June 2013 - 320,300 320,300

As at 30 June 2014 - 265,221 265,221

9. Other financial assets
2014 $ 2013 $

Rental bond deposit 9,270 6,270

Foreign exchange forward contract - 495,000

Listed securities 1,620,803 1,346,603

1,630,073 1,847,873

10. Trade and other payables

2014 $ 2013 $

Trade payables (i) 214,709 8,563,308

Accruals 449,464 282,238

664,173 8,845,546

(i) The average credit period on purchases of goods is 30 days. No interest is charged on overdue payables. The Company 
has financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all payables are paid within the credit timeframe.
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11. Provisions
Current 2014 $ 2013 $

Employee benefits:

Annual leave (note 13) 112,342 146,354

Long service leave (note 13) 5,190 60,190

Make good provision in operating lease 33,902 33,902

151,434 240,446

12. Employee benefits
The aggregate employee benefit liability recognised and included in the financial statements is as follows:

Provision for employee benefits:

Current (note 11) 117,532 206,542

117,532 206,542

2014 No. 2013 No. 

Number of full-time employees at the year end 9 9

13. Trust fund liability
Current 2014 $ 2013 $

Commonwealth Funds 12,635,804 23,191,948

12,635,804 23,191,948

14. Contributed Equity
No contributed equity has been issued as the company is limited by guarantee.  If the company is wound up, the liability of the 
members is limited to $2 in meeting the liabilities of the company.  At 30 June 2014 the number of members was 9 (2013: 9).

15. Available-for-sale revaluation reserve
2014 $ 2013 $

Balance at beginning of the �nancial year 203,131 (89,157)

Valuation (loss)/gain recognised 203,907 198,865

Cumulative loss/(gain) reclassi�ed to pro�t or loss on sale of available-for-sale 
�nancial assets (91,754) 93,412

Balance at end of the financial year 315,273 203,120

The available-for-sale revaluation reserve represents accumulated gains and losses arising on the revaluation of available-for-sale 
financial assets that have been recognised in other comprehensive income, net of amounts reclassified to profit or loss when those 
assets have been disposed of or are determined to be impaired.

16. Retained earnings 
Balance at beginning of the �nancial year 3,618,155 1,980,097 

Net surplus/(de�cit) for the year (1,436,706) 1,638,058 

Balance at end of the �nancial year 2,181,449 3,618,155 
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17. Leases
The operating leases relate to the office premises. The company has neither an option to purchase the leased asset at the 
expiry of the lease period or to extend for further years.

Non-cancellable operating leases

Not longer than 1 year 92,300 90,208

Longer than 1 year and not longer than 5 years 52,863 147,268

145,163 237,476

18. Notes to the statement of cash flows
(a) Reconciliation of cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash on hand and in banks and 
investments in money market instruments, net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the 
financial year as shown in the statement of cash flows is reconciled to the related items in the statement of financial position as 
follows:

2014 $ 2013 $

Federal account 1,066,172 1,447,045 

Trust donation account 243,143 106,864 

Professional funds account 90,721 129,115 

Cash in investment portfolio 32,417 67,623 

Commonwealth Funds - term deposit 5,184,110 7,887,978 

Commonwealth Funds - US Dollar account 701,444 7,452,482 

Commonwealth Funds - general account 4,497,396 7,416,577 

Rural women’s GP - 26 

Cash and cash equivalents 11,815,403 24,507,710 

(b) Reconciliation of surplus/(deficit) for the year to net cash flows from operating activities

2014 $ 2013 $

Surplus/(de�cit) for the year (1,436,706) 1,638,058 

Interest received/receivable (714,159) (1,400,069) 

Depreciation and amortisation of non-current assets 76,555 69,684 

Dividend income received/receivable (93,606) (95,596) 

(Gain)/Loss on sale of available-for-sale �nancial assets (91,754) 93,412 

Loss/(gain) on forward exchange contracts 945,807 (1,321,304) 

Changes in net assets and liabilities

(Increase)/decrease in assets:

 Trade and other receivables 7,547,045 (6,092,380) 

 Other �nancial assets 6,241 (2,418) 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:

 Trade and other payables (19,284,679) 3,679,046 

 Provisions (89,010) 11,101 

  

Net cash provided by/(used in) operating activities 13,134,266 (3,420,466) 
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19. Financial instruments 
(a)  Capital risk management

The company manages its capital to ensure it will continue as a going concern.  The company’s overall strategy remains 
unchanged from 2013.  The capital structure of the company consists of cash and cash equivalents and retained earnings.  
Operating cash flows are used to maintain and expand the operations of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

2014 $ 2013 $

Financial assets

Trade and other receivables 2,206,551 9,383,206

Foreign Exchange Forward Contract - 495,000

Cash and cash equivalents 1,432,454 1,750,647

Trust fund assets 10,382,950 22,757,064

Available-for-sale investments 1,630,073 1,346,603

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 664,173 8,563,308

Trust fund liability 12,635,804 23,191,948

(c) Financial risk management objectives

The company does not enter into or trade financial instruments, including derivative financial instruments, for speculative 
purposes. The company’s activities expose it primarily to the financial risks of changes in interest rates and currency risk which 
is mitigated through the use of derivative financial instruments.

(d) Significant accounting policies

Details of the significant accounting policies and methods adopted, including the criteria for recognition, the basis of 
measurement and the basis on which income and expenses are recognised, in respect of each class of financial asset, financial 
liability and equity instrument are disclosed in note 2 to the financial statements.

(e) Market risk

The company’s activities expose it to the financial risks of changes in foreign currency exchange rates and interest rates.  In 
the current financial year the company has entered into forward foreign exchange contracts to hedge the exchange rate risk 
arising on the purchase of aircraft.  The company has not used any derivative financial instruments to hedge its exposure to 
interest rate risk.  There has been no change to the company’s exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages and 
measures the interest rate risk from the previous period.

(f) Interest rate risk management

The exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the impact of any changes on the cash and trust fund assets balances of 
$11,815,403 (2013: $24,507,710).

These cash balances earn interest at an average rate of 3.9% (2013: 2.96%) per annum.

(g) Credit risk management

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its contractual obligations resulting in financial loss to the 
company. The company has adopted a policy of only dealing with creditworthy counterparties and obtaining sufficient collateral 
where appropriate, as a means of mitigating the risk of financial loss from defaults. 

The company does not have any significant credit risk exposure to any single counterparty or any group of counterparties 
having similar characteristics.

(h) Fair value of financial instruments

The Directors consider that the carrying amount of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the financial statements 
approximates their fair values, determined in accordance with the accounting policies disclosed in Note 2 to the financial 
statements.
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19. Financial instruments (continued)
Fair value measurements recognised in the statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are measured subsequent to initial recognition at fair value, 
grouped into Levels 1 to 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable.

• Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

                                                                                                                           Level 1 Total

Financial assets 30/06/2014

Equity securities 1,630,073 1,630,073

Financial assets 30/06/2013

Equity securities 1,346,603 1,346,603

(i) Liquidity risk management

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the board of directors, who have built an appropriate liquidity risk 
management framework for the management of the company’s short, medium and long term funding and liquidity management 
requirements.  The company manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and banking facilities by monitoring 
forecast and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.  The company also uses a 
trade receivables and trade payables finance facility to manage its liquidity risk.

Liquidity and interest risk tables

The following table details the company’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities.  The table has 
been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the company 
can be required to pay.  The table includes both interest and principal cash flows.

Liabilities

Weighted 
average e©ective 

interest rate % 
Less than 

1 month $ 1 - 3 months $
3 months - 

1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2014

Non-interest bearing - - 1,630,073 12,635,804 - -

Variable interest rate instruments - - - - - -

- 8,845,546 23,191,948 - -

2013

Non-interest bearing - - 8,845,546 23,191,948 - -

Variable interest rate instruments - - - - - -

- 8,845,546 23,191,948 - -
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The following table details the company’s expected maturity for its non-derivative financial assets. The table below has been 
drawn up based on the undiscounted contractual maturities of the financial assets including interest that will be earned on 
those assets except where the company anticipates that the cash flow will occur in a different period.

Assets

Weighted 
average e©ective 

interest rate %
Less than 1 

month $ 1 - 3 months $
3 months - 

1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2014

Non-interest bearing - 2,206,551 - - 1,602,803 -

Variable interest rate instruments 3.90 560,812 6,147,605 - - -

Fixed interest rate instruments 6.23 - - -

2,767,363 6,147,605 - 1,602,803 -

2013

Non-interest bearing - 9,383,206 - - 1,346,603 -

Variable interest rate instruments 2.96 7,645,666 16,219,802 - - -

Fixed interest rate instruments 6.14 - - 8,009,113 -

17,028,873 16,219,802 8,009,113 1,346,603 -

The following table details the Company’s liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments. The table has been drawn up 
based on the undiscounted contractual net cash inflows and outflows on derivative instruments that settle on a net basis, and 
the undiscounted gross inflows and outflows on those derivatives that require gross settlement. When the amount payable or 
receivable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates as illustrated by 
the yield curves at the end of the reporting period.

Less than 1 
month $

1 - 3 
months $

3 months  
- 1 year $ 1 - 5 years $ 5+ years $

2014

Gross Settled  
- Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - - 5,264,852 - -

- - 5,264,852 - -

2013

Gross Settled  
- Foreign Exchange Forward Contracts - - 2,648,911 5,679,110 -

- - 2,648,911 5,679,110 -

The following table details the forward foreign currency contracts outstanding at the end of the reporting period:

Outstanding Contracts Average Exchange Rate Foreign Currency Notional Value
Fair Value  

of Hedge Instrument

2014 $ 2013 $ 2014 $ 2013 $ 2014 $ 2013 $ 2014 $ 2013 $

$ $ $ $ $ $ $ $

Forward foreign 
currency contracts

1 to 3 months - - - - - - - -

3 months to 1 year 1.072 1.114 4,998,000 2,380,320 5,357,412 2,648,911 (173,302) (179,955)

1 to 5 years - 1.136 - 4,998,000 - 5,679,110 - (495,000)

 

(173,302) (674,955)
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20. Key management personnel compensation
Details of key management personnel

The directors and other members of key management personnel of the company during the year were:

Directors

Amanda Vanstone
Michael Reid
Mark Gray 
Murray Rogers
John Milhinch
Richard Alder
Loretta Reynolds
Malcolm White
Wiliam Mellor

Other key management personnel

Greg Rochford, Chief Executive Officer (resigned 8 August 2014)
David Alley, Director of Finance and Corporate Services
Dr Hugh Burke, Acting Director Policy and Planning
Rebecca Wyles, Corporate Affairs and Marketing Director

The aggregate compensation made to other key management personnel of the company is set out below:

2014 $  2013 $

Short-term employee bene�ts 945,771 966,843

The directors received no compensation for their services to the company in respect of the financial year. 

21. Information required by Condition 7 3(c)(vi) of the Authority 
Conditions pursuant to the Charitable Fundraising Act 1991

2014 $ 2013 $

Gross income from fundraising:

Donations and legacies 3,248,792 4,951,521 

3,248,792 4,951,521 

Total costs of fundraising (90,655) (77,154) 

Funds disbursed for Royal Flying Doctor projects (2,998,834) (4,429,056) 

Excess of total income from fundraising over funds disbursed 159,303 445,311 

% %

Total costs to gross income from fundraising 2.79 1.56

Net excess to gross income from fundraising 4.90 8.99

Total disbursements for projects to total expenditure 92.31 89.45

Total disbursements for projects to total income received 95.10 91.01

It is the policy of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia to distribute all donations, legacies and sponsorships which 
comprise its fundraising activities to each of its Sections, other than an amount approved by Board Resolution to be retained 
by the National Office up to $250,000 per annum. Given the nature of these activities, it has minimal costs associated with 
fundraising.  Furthermore, due to the timing of receipts and payments it is considered reasonable that gross income may 
exceed funds disbursed or that funds disbursed may exceed gross income at year end.
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22. Remuneration of auditors
Amounts received, or due and receivable, by the auditors from the company and any related body corporate is as follows:

2014 $ 2013 $

Auditing the �nancial statements and grant funding agreements 37,958 36,650

Consulting and other assurance services 7,875 -

45,833 36,650

The auditor of the Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia is Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

23. Related party disclosures

During the current financial year, there were no related party transactions or balances at the year-end.

24. Subsequent events

There has not arisen during the interval between the end of the reporting period and the date of this report any item, transaction 
or event of a material and unusual nature that has, in the opinion of the Directors of the company, significantly affected or 
may significantly affect the operations of the company, the results of those operations or the state of affairs of the company in 
subsequent financial years.

The company has entered into lease negotiations to relocate the registered office and principal place of business from Sydney 
to Canberra effective from 1 January 2015.

Notes to the financial statements
AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

2013/14 ANNUAL REPORT   51



Section Aviation Statistics

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK HOURS

Number 
of Aircraft RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

Central Operations

Alice Springs 7 4,940 0 4,940 2,277,877 0 2,277,877 6,642 0 6,642 

Adelaide 4 6,567 6,567 1,940,123 1,940,123 6,391 6,391 

Port Augusta 3 4,139 4,139 1,258,876 1,258,876 3,895 3,895 

TOTAL 14 15,646 0 15,646 5,476,876 0 5,476,876 16,928 0 16,928 

Queensland Section

Brisbane 2 4,115 199 4,314 1,326,858 41,718 1,368,576 4,023 150 4,173 

Bundaberg 1 3,011 0 3,011 772,423 0 772,423 2,506 0 2,506 

Cairns 5 4,149 163 4,312 1,426,836 35,299 1,462,135 4,659 144 4,802 

Charleville 2 1,402 0 1,402 534,089 0 534,089 1,651 0 1,651 

Longreach 0 - - 0 - - 0 - - 0 

Mt Isa 3 2,394 4 2,398 722,660 1,015 723,675 2,240 4 2,244 

Rockhampton 3 3,665 0 3,665 1,360,609 0 1,360,609 3,950 0 3,950 

Roma 1 615 0 615 158,876 0 158,876 507 0 507 

Townsville 2 3,310 187 3,497 1,497,436 43,863 1,541,299 4,091 170 4,261 

TOTAL 19 22,661 553 23,214 7,799,787 121,895 7,921,682 23,627 468 24,095 

South Eastern Section*

Broken Hill 5 2,406 6 2,412 579,374 2,004 581,378 1,941 6 1,947 

Dubbo 3 1,728 1,728 496,977 496,977 1,586 1,586 

Gonski Dental 1 418 24 442 102,132 5,560 107,692 339 20 359 

Bankstown 1 420 608 1,028 108,170 153,036 261,206 360 568 928 

Launceston 2 2,142 2,142 440,754 440,754 1,760 1,760 

Essendon 2 605 605 236,536 236,536 723 723 

Mascot 5 8,802 8,802 2,700,779 2,700,779 9,295 9,295 

TOTAL 19 16,521 638 17,159 4,664,722 160,600 4,825,322 16,004 595 16,599 

Western Operations

Derby 2 2,809 1,492 4,301 1,240,138 200,496 1,440,634 3,797 819 4,616 

Jandakot 6 6,713 414 7,127 2,383,530 42,963 2,426,492 7,540 211 7,751 

Kalgoorlie 2 1,996 213 2,209 936,958 72,861 1,009,820 2,789 282 3,071 

Meekatharra 2 2,098 105 2,203 1,179,044 22,409 1,201,454 3,327 96 3,423 

Port Hedland 2 2,475 606 3,081 1,385,144 126,866 1,512,010 3,937 455 4,392 

Perth Airport 1 355 19 374 551,153 45,168 596,322 839 63 903 

TOTAL 15 16,446 2,849 19,295 7,675,968 510,763 8,186,731 22,229 1,927 24,155 

GRAND TOTAL 67 71,274 4,040 75,314 25,617,353 793,258 26,410,611 78,788 2,989 81,777 

* South Eastern Section aircraft include four aircraft to be sold.
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Total All Sections

NUMBER OF LANDINGS KILOMETRES FLOWN BLOCK HOURS

Year
Number of 

Aircraft* RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total RFDS Charter Total

2013/2014 67 71,274 4,040 75,314 25,617,353 793,258 26,410,611 78,788 2,989 81,777 

2012/2013 66 70,994 4,717 75,711 25,592,900 1,022,586 26,615,486 76,210 3,697 79,906 

2011/2012 65 69,477 4,671 74,148 25,490,128 1,107,568 26,597,696 77,185 3,801 80,986

2010/2011 64 71,017 4,701 75,718 25,598,693 1,270,997 26,869,690 77,114 3,845 80,959

2009/2010 60 68,696 5,518 74,214 24,383,443 1,209,012 25,592,455 72,895 4,470 77,365

2008/2009 53 65,141 6,629 71,770 22,414,964 1,508,476 23,923,440 67,786 5,425 73,211

2007/2008 51 62,566 6,458 69,024 21,738,198 1,442,240 23,180,438 65,256 5,320 70,576

2006/2007 47 60,013 5,061 65,074 20,656,438 1,058,157 21,714,595 61,685 4,113 65,798

2005/2006 50 58,416 4,595 63,011 19,535,099 907,975 20,443,074 57,597 3,784 61,381

2004/2005 47 55,542 2,315 57,857 18,515,809 1,008,550 19,524,359 54,607 4,225 58,832

2003/2004 45 56,008 2,004 58,012 18,428,169 1,092,198 19,520,367 56,050 4,213 60,263

2002/2003 36 37,024 1,347 38,371 13,732,239 338,564 14,070,803 40,269 1,402 41,672

2001/2002 40 45,313 3,897 49,210 15,544,830 1,037,661 16,602,491 45,681 4,012 49,693

2000/2001 42 36,307 3,930 40,237 14,811,922 1,175,306 15,987,228 43,141 4,319 47,459

1999/2000 40 39,600 3,882 43,482 13,538,175 1,018,235 14,556,410 40,319 3,884 44,203

1998/1999 41 39,513 2,919 42,432 12,681,197 1,006,715 13,687,912 39,405 3,760 43,165

1997/1998 40 36,415 3,624 40,039 12,544,579 803,889 13,348,468 35,957 2,999 38,956

1996/1997 38 31,613 3,118 34,731 11,202,447 724,765 11,927,212 32,230 2,737 34,967

1995/1996 38 31,289 2,730 34,019 10,732,934 583,434 11,316,368 31,645 2,199 33,844

1994/1995 36 27,548 2,303 29,851 8,940,914 542,519 9,483,433 26,786 1,958 28,744

1993/1994 37 25,589 1,647 27,236 8,401,110 290,430 8,691,540 25,377 1,124 26,501

1992/1993 37 24,963 2,509 27,472 8,301,017 473,512 8,774,529 25,711 1,738 27,449

1991/1992 37 23,420 2,982 26,402 7,638,207 615,210 8,253,417 24,301 2,305 26,606

* Number of aircraft includes four to be sold.
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Central Operations Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-FMP Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 Alice Springs

VH-FMW Pilatus PC-12 1995 Sep-95 Alice Springs

VH-FMZ Pilatus PC-12 1996 Mar-96 Roy & Marjory Edwards Alice Springs

VH-FDE Pilatus PC-12 2000 Sep-00 Senex Energy

VH-FGR Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FGS Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FGT Pilatus PC-12 2001 Dec-01

VH-FDK Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-03

VH-FDJ Pilatus PC-12 2007 Jan-08 Beth Steward Klugh

VH-FVA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10 Our Auxiliaries & 
Support Groups

Variety – The 
Childrens’s Charity

VH-FVB Pilatus PC-12 2010 Apr-10 BHP Billiton

VH-FVD Pilatus PC-12 2010 Jul-10 Our Inaugural Doctors Li-Ka Shing 
Foundation

VH-FVE Pilatus PC-12 2010 Sep-10 Our Pioneering Women

VH-FVF Pilatus PC-12 2010 Oct-10 Barry Lodge OAM Oz Minerals

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 14

Queensland Section Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-NQA Beechcraft King Air B200C 1982 Apr-91 Cairns

VH-FFI Beechcraft B200 1982 Feb-95 Mount Isa

VH-FDD Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE

2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDF Beechcraft Super King Air 
B200SE

2000 Apr-00 Cairns

VH-FDC Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-NQB Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Mount Isa

VH-FDP Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Charleville

VH-FDR Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDW Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Rockhampton

VH-FDZ Beechcraft King Air B200 2004 Dec-04 Roma

VH-FDB Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 May-07 Townsville

VH-FDA Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Aug-07 Bundaberg

VH-FDT Beechcraft King Air B200 2007 Oct-07 Brisbane

VH-FDG Beechcraft King Air B200 2009 Jul-09 Mount Isa

VH-NQC Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-NQD Cessna C208 2009 Oct-09 Cairns

VH-FDS Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Sep-10 Townsville

VH-FDI Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Rockhampton

VH-FDM Beechcraft King Air B200C 2010 Nov-10 Brisbane

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 19

Aviation Statistics
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South Eastern Section Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-MSZ* Beecraft Kingair B200 1981 Dec-86 Fred Mckay

VH-MVY* Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Sep-98 Flying Doctor Society 

VH-MSM* Beecraft Kingair B200 1993 Jun-96

VH-MVL* Beecraft Kingair B200 1989 Oct-97 Outback Car Trek 

VH-MVS Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Jun-03

VH-MVP Beecraft Kingair B200 2002 Sep-03

VH-MSH Beecraft Kingair B200 2001 Sep-03

VH-MWV Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Dec-03 Kaye Melmeth

VH-MVJ Beecraft Kingair B200 2003 Jul-04 Lady Nancy

VH-MVW Beecraft Kingair B200 2007 May-07 RFDS Friends

VH-MWK Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MVX Beecraft Kingair B200C 2008 Dec-08

VH-MWH Beecraft Kingair B200 2008 Dec-08

VH-NAJ Beecraft Kingair B300C 2011 Mar-12

VH-NAO Beecraft Kingair B300C 2011 Apr-12

VH-AMQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Sep-12

VH-AMR Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Jun-12

VH-AMS Beecraft Kingair B200C 2011 Aug-12

VH-LTQ Beecraft Kingair B200C 2013 May-13

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 19

* Four aircraft to be sold

Western Operations Aircraft Register

Registration 
Letters Description

Year of 
Manufacture

Date of 
Acquisition Name

Location 
(where 
applicable)

Sponsor (where 
applicable)

VH-KWO* Pilatus PC-12 2001 Jun-01 Wesfarmers

VH-MWO* Pilatus PC-12 2001 Aug-01 Chevron

VH-NOW* Pilatus PC-12 2001 Nov-01 Woodside

VH-VWO* Pilatus PC-12 2002 Dec-01 BHP Billiton

VH-YWO Pilatus PC-12 2006 Sep-06

VH-ZWO Pilatus PC-12 2004 Feb-04 Barrick Gold

VH-OWA Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jun-09

VH-OWP Pilatus PC-12 2008 Aug-08

VH-OWQ Pilatus PC-12 2008 Nov-08

VH-OWR Pilatus PC-12 2008 Jan-09

VH-OWB Pilatus PC-12 2009 Dec-09

VH-OWD Pilatus PC-12 2009 Jan-10

VH-OWG Pilatus PC-12 2009 Mar-10

VH-OWI Pilatus PC-12 2010 Dec-10

VH-RIO Hawker 800XP 2002 Oct-09 Perth Airport Rio Tinto

VH-OWS Pilatus PC-12 2013 Dec-13

VH-OWJ Pilatus PC-12 2013 Nov-13

VH-OWX Pilatus PC-12 2013 Mar-14

VH-OWU Pilatus PC-12 2013 Mar-14

TOTAL AIRCRAFT 19

*Four aircraft to be sold

TOTAL AIRCRAFT – ALL SECTIONS 71 ( Includes planned disposals for 2014/15)

TOTAL AIRCRAFT ADJUSTED FOR DISPOSALS 63

Aviation Statistics
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Telehealth and Patients Attended

TELEHEALTH PATIENTS ATTENDED

Base / Location Radio Telephone

Video 
Conference 

or other TOTAL

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics

RFDS 
Medical 
Services Inpatients

Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP Service TOTAL

Central Operations

Alice Springs  -  -  -  -  -  -  4,090  15,812  -  -  -  -  19,902 

Tennant Creek  -  -  -  -  763  -  370  -  -  -  -  -  1,133 

Adelaide  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  96 2,115  2,211 

Port Augusta  -  4,237  -  4,237  2,410  1,518  -  3,178  -  -  -  -  7,106 

Marree  -  798  -  798  -  -  3,322  333  -  -  -  -  3,655 

TOTAL  -  5,035  -  5,035  3,173  1,518  7,782  19,323  -  -  96  2,115  34,007 

Queensland Section

Brisbane  2  6,378  65  6,445  -  -  -  98  -  -  -  2,219  2,317 

Bundaberg  -  5,074  15  5,089  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Cairns  1  8,617  15  8,633  11,694  7,755  5,779  8  -  -  -  1,611  26,847 

Charleville  2  1,820  63  1,885  2,773  1,903  -  50  -  -  -  -  4,726 

Longreach  -  312  7  319  -  -  1,121  -  -  -  -  -  1,121 

Mount Isa  3  4,568  7  4,578  4,026  1,441  -  27  -  -  -  -  5,494 

Rockhampton  -  6,096  47  6,143  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Townsville  -  6,394  27  6,421  882  525  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,407 

Mobile Dental 
Service

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  3,122  -  3,122 

TOTAL  8  39,259  246  39,513  19,375  11,624  6,900  183  -  -  3,122  3,830  45,034 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill  -  6,009  -  6,009  8,670  404  1,796  253  -  -  2,597  -  13,720 

Dubbo  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,795  -  1,795 

Cooper Basin  -  -  -  -  326  -  6,963  -  -  -  -  -  7,289 

Bankstown  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  12,726  -  -  -  -  12,726 

NSW  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  2,079  2,079 

VIC  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  481  481 

TAS  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  748  748 

TOTAL  -  6,009  -  6,009  8,996  404  8,759  12,979  -  -  4,392  3,308  38,838 

Western Operations

Derby  -  7,292  -  7,292  859  2,456  -  4,430  -  -  -  -  7,745 

Jandakot  -  9,017  -  9,017  322  -  15  1,530  24  24  1,120  3,801  6,836 

Kalgoorlie  -  6,926  -  6,926  901  -  -  901 

Meekatharra  -  4,516  -  4,516  900  -  -  3,197  1,113  -  -  5,210 

Port Hedland  -  3,997  -  3,997  1,405  -  -  3,590  8  165  -  -  5,168 

Perth Airport  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  -  31,748  -  31,748  4,387  2,456  15  9,550  3,229  1,302  1,120  3,801  25,860 

Victoria

Northern Mallee  -  -  51  51  -  -  -  -  -  -  1,131  434  1,565 

TOTAL  -  -  - 51  -  - - - - -  1,131 434  1,565 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  8  82,051  297  82,305  35,931  16,002  23,456  42,035  3,229  1,302  9,861  13,054  145,304 

Previous Years

2012/2013  16  89,204  296  89,516  38,587  24,946  15,948  44,787  5,761  2,575  6,913  14,472  153,989 

2011/2012  77  88,117  336  88,530  37,436  -  40,505  40,925  7,102  2,148  -  16,380  144,496 

2010/2011  14  92,608  460  93,082  37,765  -  32,201  49,293  6,592  1,978  -  16,874  144,703 

Health Statistics
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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Clinics Conducted and Patients Transported

NUMBER OF CLINICS CONDUCTED NUMBER OF PATIENTS TRANSPORTED

Base / Location

General 
Practice 

Clinics
Nursing 

Clinics

RFDS 
Other 

Clinics

RFDS 
Facilitated 

Clinics
Dental 
Clinics

Rural 
Women’s 

GP 
Service TOTAL

Primary 
Evacuations

Inter-
hospital 

Transfers

Patients 
Transported 

from a 
clinic Repatriations TOTAL

TOTAL 
Immunisa-

tions

Central Operations

Alice Springs  -  -  -  1,180  -  -  1,180  1,664  971  -  20  2,655  - 

Tennant Creek  63  -  -  63  -  -  126  -  -  -  23 

Adelaide  -  -  -  -  5  233  238  32  4,355  -  75  4,462 -

Port Augusta  226  226  -  824  -  -  1,276  65  1,618  35  26  1,744  686 

Marree  -  504  -  40  -  -  544  -  -  -  -  -  24 

TOTAL  289  730  -  2,107  5  233  3,364  1,761  6,944  35  121  8,861  733 

Queensland Section

Brisbane  -  -  -  13  -  177  190  13  2,299  -  20  2,332  - 

Bundaberg  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  5  1,913  -  22  1,940  - 

Cairns  1,079  1,124  622  1  -  190  3,016  464  569  -  6  1,039  2,450 

Charleville  255  294  -  12  -  -  561  98  293  14  3  408  1,424 

Longreach  -  -  467  -  -  -  467  -  -  -  -  -  - 

Mount Isa  275  214  -  11  -  -  500  390  435  22  2  849  701 

Rockhampton  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  15  2,464  -  29  2,508  - 

Townsville  49  48  -  -  -  -  97  23  2,251  4  10  2,288  211 

Mobile Dental 
Service  -  -  -  -  344  -  344  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  1,658  1,680  1,089  37  344  367  5,175  1,008  10,224  40  92  11,364  4,786 

South Eastern Section

Broken Hill  881  24  1,039  -  330  -  2,274  252  464  -  -  716  284 

Dubbo  -  -  -  -  266  -  266  436  436  -  -  872  - 

Cooper Basin  56  -  1,529  -  -  -  1,585 - -  -  -  -  - 

Bankstown  -  -  -  933  -  -  933 - -  -  -  -  - 

Launceston  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -  1,025  -  -  1,025  - 

Essendon (refer 
Victoria)  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -  -  -  -  -  - 

Mascot  -  -  -  -  -  -  - -  5,367  -  -  5,367  - 

NSW  -  -  -  -  -  184  184  -  -  -  -  -  - 

VIC  -  -  -  -  -  45  45  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TAS  -  -  -  -  -  65  65  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  937  24  2,568  933  596  294  5,352  688  7,292  -  -  7,980  284 

Western Operations

Derby  74  206  517  -  -  797  449  786  183  87  1,505  298 

Jandakot  32  -  2  197  163  293  687  259  3,577  3  71  3,910  38 

Kalgoorlie  146  - - -  -  -  146  267  809  3  39  1,118  34 

Meekatharra  79  - - -  -  -  79  226  543  -  4  773  29 

Port Hedland  142  - -  304  -  -  446  328  915  35  16  1,294  16 

Perth Airport  -  - -  -  -  -  - -  233 -  13  246  - 

TOTAL  473  206  2  1,018  163  293  2,155  1,529  6,863  224  230  8,846  415 

Victoria

Road Transport  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  17,277  -  -  17,277  - 

Air Transport - 
Essendon

 -  -  -  -  -  -  -  -  377  -  -  377  - 

Northern Mallee  -  -  18  -  -  32  50  -  -  -  -  -  - 

TOTAL  -  -  18  -  -  32  50  -  17,654  -  -  17,654  - 

TOTAL ALL 
SECTIONS  3,357  2,640  3,677  4,095  1,108  1,219  16,096  4,986  48,977  299  443  54,705  6,218 

Previous Years

2012/2013  3,540  3,138  2,942  4,076  830  1,293 15,819  4,920  46,005  342  384  51,651  7,128 

2011/2012  3,565  -  5,511  3,904  -  1,432 14,412  4,964  31,872  368  424  40,705  6,312 

2010/2011  3,609  -  5,248  3,647  -  1,432 13,936  4,620  34,815  418  469  40,322  5,908 

Health Statistics
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Sta¦ Employed (Headcount) as at 30 June 2014

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

National 
O�ce Total

F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T F/T *P/T

Administration 26 6 71 17 26 6 34 14 11 10 9 2 177 55

Allied Health 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Dental 0 0 0 0 2 1 1 3 0 0 3 4

Engineers / Engineering Support 16 0 4 1 34 4 17 1 0 0 71 6

General Hands 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Health Promotion 0 3 1 2 0 0 1 1 0 0 2 6

Indigenous Health Workers / Liaison Staff 1 1 10 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 11 2

Medical Practitioners 4 3 20 23 11 1 24 31 0 0 59 58

Medical Specialist 0 0 1 0 0 5 2 8 0 0 3 13

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 4 2 29 5 3 0 0 0 0 0 36 7

Operational Coordinators 0 0 0 0 0 0 20 0 0 0 20 0

Paramedics 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 59 50 59 50

Pilots 33 0 60 3 46 2 44 2 0 0 183 7

Public Relations / Fundraising 7 0 7 4 9 6 4 3 7 1 34 14

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 12 4 0 0 2 1 0 0 1 3 15 8

Registered Nurses 31 15 60 12 20 15 26 28 0 0 137 70

Tourist Facilities / Merchandising / Other 2 24 0 0 1 5 1 0 0 0 4 29

Total Sta© Headcount * 136 58 263 68 154 46 174 91 78 64 9 2 814 329

Grand Total 1,143 

* Includes casual staff

FTE - Sta¦ Employed as at 30 June 2014

Central 
Operations

Queensland 
Section

South 
Eastern 
Section

Western 
Operations

Victorian 
Section

National 
O�ce Total

FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE FTE

Administration 28.94 82.84 33.43 42.30 17.30 10.90 215.71

Allied Health 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Dental 0.00 0.00 2.80 2.90 0.00 5.70

Engineers / Engineering Support 16.49 4.60 34.54 17.70 0.00 73.33

General Hands 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00

Health Promotion 1.85 2.40 0.00 1.90 0.00 6.15

Indigenous Health Workers / Liaison Staff 1.50 10.80 0.00 0.00 0.00 12.30

Medical Practitioners 4.50 33.93 11.00 38.20 0.00 87.63

Medical Specialist 0.00 1.00 0.50 6.30 0.00 7.80

Mental Health / Drug & Alcohol 5.63 31.94 3.00 0.00 0.00 40.57

Operational Coordinators 0.00 0.00 0.00 20.00 0.00 20.00

Paramedics 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 69.10 69.10

Pilots 33.00 61.00 46.07 45.50 0.00 185.57

Public Relations / Fundraising 6.00 10.00 12.24 5.60 7.60 41.44

Radio Staff / Tasking Coordinators 15.01 0.00 2.70 0.00 3.40 21.11

Registered Nurses 36.39 66.25 31.30 44.00 0.00 177.94

Tourist Facilities / Merchandising / Other 9.82 0.00 3.48 1.00 0.00 14.30

Total Sta© FTE # 159.13 304.75 181.06 225.40 97.40 10.90 978.64

# These �gures include full-time, �xed-term contract and casual employees

Employment Statistics
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Royal Flying Doctor Service Traditional Services are funded by the Commonwealth Government and include Primary 
Evacuations, GP and Nursing Clinics, Remote Consultations and Medical Chests.

In the table below our activity under these service areas is shown for the last six years.

Traditional Services Activity 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14

Primary Evacuations  4,149  4,609  4,591  4,964  4,920 4,986

GP Clinics  2,957  3,019  2,894  3,054  2,941 3,017

Patient Contacts at GP Clinics  30,311  30,554  29,759  31,018  31,287 31,027

Nursing Clinics  1,433  1,411  1,376  1,587  1,427 1,453

Patient Contacts at Nursing Clinics  11,464  9,670  9,588  10,432  11,474 9,616

Remote Consultations  62,593  70,109  69,688  63,377  65,126 56,735

Medical Chests  2,737  2,551  2,419  2,431  2,568 2,532
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Every year, the Flying Doctor relies heavily on the support of the 

communities in which it works – from those who volunteer to 

drive ambulances, to the everyday Australians who donate to keep 

the Doctor flying. We have a deep respect for these incredible 

people and thank them sincerely for their ongoing support.

It takes a special dedication to be on call 24/7 and head off into the unknown – often 
without knowing what you’ll find at the other end. Our staff members continue to go 
above and beyond what’s expected and sit at the heart of the quality health services 
that the Flying Doctor provides.

We would also like to thank the following organisations. Your support has been 
invaluable this past year.

> The Australian

> King & Wood Mallesons

> The Qantas Foundation

Our supporters >

CONTENTS > OUR MISSION >

 
To provide excellence 
in aeromedical and 
primary health care 
across Australia.

The Year’s Highlights 2

Chair & CEO’s Reports 5

Facts at a glance 7

National reach 8

Our Board 26

Governance  27

Financial Reports 28

Statistics 52

Our supporters 60

On average the RFDS holds 44 health care clinics every day. 

60   ROYAL FLYING DOCTOR SERVICE   |   FEDERATION OFFICE



CONTENTS > OUR MISSION >

 
To provide excellence 
in aeromedical and 
primary health care 
across Australia.

The Year’s Highlights 2

Chair & CEO’s Reports 5

Facts at a glance 7

National reach 8

Our Board 26

Governance  27

Financial Reports 28

Statistics 52

Our supporters 60

On average the RFDS holds 44 health care clinics every day. 



More than a 
flying doctor

Wide-ranging health 
services for rural and 
remote Australia

Annual Report 2013/14
F E D E R AT I O N  O F F I C E

How you can help >
Whilst the Royal Flying Doctor Service receives 

some support from Commonwealth, State 

and Territory governments, we rely heavily on 

fundraising and donations from the community 

to purchase and medically equip our aircraft 

and to support other health initiatives.

> Send a cheque (made payable to the 
Royal Flying Doctor Service of Australia) to: 
RFDS National Office 
Level 8, 15–17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000

> Phone us on 02 8259 8100 or 1800 467 435

> Visit flyingdoctor.org.au to make an online donation

  flyingdoctor.org.au

  facebook.com/royalflyingdoctorservice

  @RoyalFlyingDoc

ABN 74 438 059 643

Royal Flying Doctor 
Service of Australia

Federation Office 
Level 8, 15–17 Young Street 
Sydney NSW 2000 
T  02 8259 8100 
F  02 9247 3351 
W  www.flyingdoctor.org.au
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